

Obadiah

translationNotes

v6

Copyrights & Licensing

License:

This work is made available under a Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International License, which means

You are free:

- Share copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format
- Adapt remix, transform, and build upon the material for any purpose, even commercially.

Under the following conditions:

- Attribution You must attribute the work as follows: "Original work available at http://unfoldingword.org." Attribution statements in derivative works should not in any way suggest that we endorse you or your use of this work.
- ShareAlike If you remix, transform, or build upon the material, you must distribute your contributions under the same license as the original.

Use of trademarks: **unfoldingWord** is a trademark of Distant Shores Media and may not be included on any derivative works created from this content. Unaltered content from http://unfoldingword.org must include the **unfoldingWord** logo when distributed to others. But if you alter the content in any way, you must remove the **unfoldingWord** logo before distributing your work.

This work is still being revised, if you have comments or questions please email them to help@door43.org

Version: 6

Published: 2017-02-22

Table of Contents

Copyrights & Licensing	. 1
translationNotes	. 5
Introduction to Obadiah	. 5
Obadiah 1:1-2	. 9
Obadiah 1:3-4	. 11
Obadiah 1:5-6	. 13
Obadiah 1:7-9	. 15
Obadiah 1:10-11	. 17
Obadiah 1:12-14	. 19
Obadiah 1:15-16	. 21
Obadiah 1:17-18	. 23
Obadiah 1:19	. 25
Obadiah 1:20-21	. 26
translationQuestions	. 28
Obadiah 1	. 28
translationWords	. 30
afflict, affliction	. 30
ambassador, representative	. 31
Benjamin	. 32
boast, boastful	. 33
bread	. 34
brother	. 35
Canaan, Canaanite	. 36
consume	. 37
cut off	. 38
day of the Lord, day of Yahweh	. 39
deceive, deceit, deception, deceptive	. 40
deliver, deliverer, deliverance	. 41
eagle	. 42
Edom, Edomite, Idumea	. 43
Ephraim	. 44
Esau	. 45
exile, the Exile	. 46
fire	. 47
foreigner, foreign, alien	. 48
forever	. 49
gate, gate bar	. 50
Gilead	
glean, gleaning	
grape	
head	

Table of Contents

heart	. 56
holy, holiness	. 57
house	. 58
Israel, Israelites, nation of Israel	. 59
Jacob, Israel	
Jerusalem	. 61
Joseph (OT)	
Judah	
judge, judgment	
kingdom	
Lord Yahweh, Yahweh God	
lots, casting lots	
mighty, might	
nation	
Negev	
Obadiah	
peace, peaceful	
people of God, my people	
Philistines	
possess, possession	
proud, pride, prideful	
raise, risen, arise, arose	
rejoice	
ruin, ruins	
Samaria, Samaritan	
send, send out, sent	
shame, shameful, ashamed	
slaughter	
thief, thieves, robber	. 88
vision	
wise, wisdom	
works, deeds, work, acts	
Yahweh	
Zion, Mount Zion	
unslationAcademy	95
Active or Passive	
Assumed Knowledge and Implicit Information	
Hyperbole	
Idiom	
Metaphor	
Metonymy	
Parallelism	
Rhetorical Ouestion	. 114

Synecdoche																		117
How to Translate Names																		119
Translate Unknowns																		123

translationNotes

Introduction to Obadiah

Part 1: General Introduction

Outline of the Book of Obadiah

- 1. God's judgments on the nation of Edom
 - a) The destruction of Edom is predicted (1:1–4)
 - b) The complete desolation and destruction of the city is predicted (1:5-9)
 - c) The hatred of Edom for Israel (1:10-14)
 - d) Edom and the other nations will be punished (1:15–16)
- 2. God promises to rescue his people; they will live in their land again (1:17–19)
- 3. Yahweh promises to restore his kingdom (1:20–21)

What is the Book of Obadiah about?

After Jerusalem was destroyed, the Edomites captured fleeing people and gave them to Babylon. The Edomites came under Yahweh's judgment for mistreating the children of Israel. The book was intended to give comfort to the people of Judah in exile.

How should the title of this book be translated?

Translators may decide to translate this traditional title, "The Book of Obadiah," in a way that is more clear to the readers. They may decide to call it, "The sayings of Obadiah." (See: How to Translate Names)

Who wrote the Book of Obadiah?

Obadiah probably wrote this book. We know nothing more about the writer than that his name in Hebrew means, "Servant of Yahweh."

Part 2: Important Religious and Cultural Concepts

What was Edom's relationship to Israel?

Obadiah refers to Edom as Israel's brother. This is because the Edomites were descendants of Esau, while the Israelite's were descendants of Jacob (Esau's brother). This made Edom's betray of Israel much worse.

Part 3: Important Translation Issues

How do I translate the concept of "pride"?

Pride is a major issue in Obadiah. This word is usually used in reference to people. When Obadiah speaks about the "pride" of Edom, this means that the nation thought they were more powerful than Yahweh and that he would not or was not able to punish them.

List of translationAcademy Topics in Obadiah

- * Active or Passive is found in: 01:01, 01:05, 01:07, 01:10, 01:15
- * Assumed Knowledge and Implicit Information is found in: 01:17
- * Hyperbole is found in: 01:03
- * Idiom is found in: 01:03, 01:10, 01:12, 01:15
- * Metaphor is found in: 01:15, 01:17
- * Metonymy is found in: 01:10
- * Rhetorical Question is found in: 01:03, 01:05, 01:07
- * Synecdoche is found in: 01:03
- * How to Translate Names is found in: 01:07, 01:20

List of translationWords in Obadiah

- * afflict, affliction is found in: 01:12
- * ambassador, representative is found in: 01:01
- * Benjamin is found in: 01:19
- * boast, boastful is found in: 01:12
- * bread is found in: 01:07
- * brother is found in: 01:10, 01:12
- * Canaan, Canaanite is found in: 01:20
- * consume is found in: 01:17
- * cut off is found in: 01:05, 01:07, 01:10, 01:12
- * day of the Lord, day of Yahweh is found in: 01:15
- * deceive, deceit, deception, deceptive is found in: 01:03, 01:07
- * deliver, deliverer, deliverance is found in: 01:20
- * eagle is found in: 01:03

- * Edom, Edomite, Idumea is found in: 01:01, 01:07
- * Ephraim is found in: 01:19
- * Esau is found in: 01:05, 01:07, 01:17, 01:19, 01:20
- * exile, the Exile is found in: 01:20
- * fire is found in: 01:17
- * foreigner, foreign, alien is found in: 01:10
- * forever is found in: 01:10
- * gate, gate bar is found in: 01:10, 01:12
- * Gilead is found in: 01:19
- * glean, gleaning is found in: 01:05
- * grape is found in: 01:05
- * head is found in: 01:15
- * heart is found in: 01:03
- * holy, holiness is found in: 01:15, 01:17
- * house is found in: 01:17
- * Israel, Israelites, nation of Israel is found in: 01:20
- * Jacob, Israel is found in: 01:10, 01:17
- * Jerusalem is found in: 01:10, 01:20
- * Joseph (OT) is found in: 01:17
- * Judah is found in: 01:12
- * judge, judgment is found in: 01:20
- * kingdom is found in: 01:20
- * Lord Yahweh, Yahweh God is found in: 01:01
- * lots, casting lots is found in: 01:10
- * mighty, might is found in: 01:07
- * nation is found in: 01:01, 01:15
- * Negev is found in: 01:19, 01:20
- * Obadiah is found in: 01:01
- * peace, peaceful is found in: 01:07
- * people of God, my people is found in: 01:12
- * Philistines is found in: 01:19

- * possess, possession is found in: 01:17, 01:19
- * proud, pride, prideful is found in: 01:03
- * raise, rise, risen, arise, arose is found in: 01:01
- * rejoice is found in: 01:12
- * ruin, ruins is found in: 01:12
- * Samaria, Samaritan is found in: 01:19
- * send, send out, sent is found in: 01:01
- * shame, shameful, ashamed is found in: 01:10
- * slaughter is found in: 01:07
- * thief, thieves, robber is found in: 01:05
- * vision is found in: 01:01
- * wise, wisdom is found in: 01:07
- * works, deeds, work, acts is found in: 01:15
- * Yahweh is found in: 01:03, 01:07, 01:17, 01:20
- * Zion, Mount Zion is found in: 01:17, 01:20

translationNotes Obadiah 1:1-2

Obadiah 1:1-2

UDB:

¹ This is a message that Yahweh our God gave to me, Obadiah, about the Edom people group. Yahweh our God has told me this about the people of Edom:

"I, Yahweh, have sent a messenger to other nations, telling them to prepare to go and attack Edom."

"I will soon cause you to become the weakest and most despised nation on the earth.

ULB:

1 ¹ The Vision of Obadiah. The Lord Yahweh says this concerning Edom: We have heard a report from Yahweh and an ambassador has been sent among the nations, saying, "Rise up! Let us rise up against her for battle!" ² Behold, I will make you small among the nations, you will be greatly despised.

translationWords:

- vision
- Obadiah
- Lord Yahweh, Yahweh God
- Edom, Edomite, Idumea
- ambassador, representative
- send, send out, sent
- nation
- raise, rise, risen, arise, arose

translationNotes:

- Yahweh This is the name of God that he revealed to his people in the Old Testament. See the translationWord page about Yahweh concerning how to translate this.
- ambassador has been sent AT: "God had sent an ambassador" (See: Active or Passive)
- **Rise up** "stand up" This phrase is used to tell people to get ready.
- Behold AT: "look" or "listen" or "pay attention to what I am about to tell you"
- you will be greatly despised "the people of other nations will hate you" (See: Active or Passive)

² And Yahweh says this to the people of Edom:

Obadiah 1:1-2 translationNotes

- Introduction to Obadiah
- Obadiah 01 Translation Questions

translationNotes Obadiah 1:3-4

Obadiah 1:3-4

UDB:

³ Your capital city is high in the rocky cliffs,

and you are very proud;

you think that you are safe because no army can attack you,

but you have deceived yourselves.

⁴ And I tell you that even if you had wings and could fly higher than eagles fly,

and if you could make your homes among the stars,

I would bring you crashing down from there.

ULB:

³ The pride of your heart has deceived you, you who live in the clefts of the rock, in your lofty home; who say in your heart, "Who will bring me down to the ground?" ⁴ Though you soar high like the eagle and though your nest is set among the stars, I will bring you down from there, says Yahweh.

translationWords:

- proud, pride, prideful
- heart
- deceive, deceit, deception, deceptive
- eagle
- Yahweh

translationNotes:

- General Information: Obadiah's vision concerning Edom continues.
- The pride of your heart Yahweh uses the part of a person's body that is associated with emotions to refer to the people of Edom feeling pride. (See: Synecdoche)
- in the clefts of the rock "in the cracks in the rock"
- in your lofty home "in your home that was built in a high place"
- Who will bring me down to the ground? This question is showing how the Edomites were proud and felt safe. AT: "I am safe from all attackers." (See: Rhetorical Question)

Obadiah 1:3-4 translationNotes

• Though you soar high like the eagle and though your nest is set among the stars - Both of these phrases are saying Edom is built much higher than possible, to say it was built in a very high place. (See: Hyperbole and Parallelism)

• I will bring you down from there - Pride is associated with height and humility is associated with being low. Yahweh says he will bring Edom down to say he will humble it. AT: "I will humble you" (See: Idiom)

- Introduction to Obadiah
- Obadiah 01 Translation Questions

translationNotes Obadiah 1:5-6

Obadiah 1:5-6

UDB:

⁵ When thieves break into someone's house during the night,

they certainly steal only the things that they want.

And people who pick grapes always leave a few grapes on the vines.

But your country will be completely destroyed!

⁶ Everything that is valuable will be taken away.

Your enemies will find and take away even the valuable things that you have hidden.

ULB:

⁵ If thieves came to you, if robbers came by night (how are you cut off!), would they not only steal enough for themselves? If grape gatherers came to you, would they not leave the gleanings? ⁶ How Esau has been ransacked, and his hidden treasures sought out!

translationWords:

- thief, thieves, robber
- cut off
- grape
- glean, gleaning
- Esau

translationNotes:

- General Information: Yahweh continues giving Obadiah his message to Edom.
- if robbers came by night "or if robbers came during the night"
- robbers people who steal things by being violent to other people
- how are you cut off Yahweh adds this phrase in the middle of another sentence to express that the punishment of Edom is shocking. AT: "ah, you are completely destroyed." (See: Rhetorical Question)
- would they not only steal enough for themselves? AT: "They would only steal enough for themselves." (See: Rhetorical Ouestion)
- How Esau has been ransacked, and his hidden treasures sought out AT: "Ah, enemies have searched Esau; they have looked for his hidden treasure." (See: Active or Passive)
- ransacked searching for things in order to steal them

Obadiah 1:5-6 translationNotes

- Introduction to Obadiah
- Obadiah 01 Translation Questions

translationNotes Obadiah 1:7-9

Obadiah 1:7-9

UDB:

⁷ All your allies will turn against you,

and they will force you to leave your country.

Those with whom you have peace now will trick you and defeat you.

Those who eat meals with you now are planning to trap you, and then they will say to you, 'You are not as clever as you thought you were!'

⁸ I, Yahweh, declare that at the time that I destroy Edom,

I will punish the men who live in those cliffs who thought that they were wise.

⁹ The soldiers from Teman town will become terrified;

all you people who are descendants of Esau will be wiped out."

ULB:

⁷ All the men of your alliance will send you on your way to the border. The men who were at peace with you have deceived you, and prevailed against you. They who eat your bread have set a trap under you. There is no understanding in him. ⁸ "Will I not on that day," says Yahweh, "destroy the wise men from Edom and understanding out of the mountain of Esau? ⁹ Your mighty men will be dismayed, Teman, so that every man may be cut off from the mountain of Esau by slaughter.

translationWords:

- peace, peaceful
- deceive, deceit, deception, deceptive
- bread
- Yahweh
- wise, wisdom
- Edom, Edomite, Idumea
- Esau
- mighty, might
- cut off
- slaughter

Obadiah 1:7-9 translationNotes

translationNotes:

- **General Information:** Yahweh continues giving Obadiah his message to Edom.
- your alliance The word "your" refers to the nation of Edom.
- will send you on your way to the border "will send you out of their land." The people of Edom will try to take refuge in the land of their allies, but their allies will not let the people of Edom stay in their land.
- There is no understanding in him "Edom cannot understand."
- Will I not on that day," says Yahweh, "destroy ... mountain of Esau? "'On that day,' says Yahweh, 'I surely will destroy ... mountain of Esau." (See: Rhetorical Question)
- Your mighty men will be dismayed "Your strong warriors will be afraid"
- Teman the name of a region in the land of Edom. (See: How to Translate Names)
- so that every man may be cut off from the mountain of Esau by slaughter AT: "so that there will be no more people in the mountains of Esau because enemies killed them." (See: Active or Passive)
- **mountain of Esau** Most of the land of Esau was mountains, so this is one way of referring to the land of Esau.

- Introduction to Obadiah
- Obadiah 01 Translation Questions

translationNotes Obadiah 1:10-11

Obadiah 1:10-11

UDB:

¹⁰ "You acted cruelly to your relatives who are descendants of Jacob, the twin brother of your ancestor Esau.

So now you will be disgraced, and you will be destroyed forever.

¹¹ Foreigners entered the gates of Jerusalem

and cast lots to share out among themselves the valuable things they found;

but you were as bad as those foreigners,

because you just stood there and did not help the Israelites.

ULB:

¹⁰ Because of the violence done to your brother Jacob, you will be covered with shame, and you will be cut off forever. ¹¹ On the day you stood aloof, on the day strangers carried away his wealth, and foreigners entered into his gates, and cast lots for Jerusalem, you were like one of them.

translationWords:

- brother
- Jacob, Israel
- shame, shameful, ashamed
- cut off
- forever
- foreigner, foreign, alien
- gate, gate bar
- lots, casting lots
- Jerusalem

translationNotes:

- General Information: Yahweh continues giving Obadiah his message to Edom.
- your brother Jacob AT: "your relatives who are the descendants of Jacob." (See: Metonymy)
- you will be covered with shame "you will be completely ashamed"
- will be cut off forever "will never exist again." (See: Active or Passive)
- stood aloof "watched and did nothing to help"
- strangers people from other nations

Obadiah 1:10-11 translationNotes

• his wealth - The word "his" refers to "Jacob," which is another way of referring to the people of Israel.

- cast lots for Jerusalem This phrase means "they cast lots to decide who would get the valuable things that they took from Jerusalem." (See: Idiom)
- you were like one of them "it was as though you were one of these strangers and foreigners"

- Introduction to Obadiah
- Obadiah 01 Translation Questions

translationNotes Obadiah 1:12-14

Obadiah 1:12-14

UDB:

¹² You should not have gloated about the disaster that the Israelites were experiencing.

You should not have been happy when their towns were ruined.

You should not have made fun of them when they were suffering.

¹³ They are my people,

so you should not have entered their city gates when they were experiencing those disasters

and you should not have laughed at them.

And you should not have taken away their valuable possessions.

¹⁴ You should not have stood at crossroads

to catch those who were trying to escape.

You should not have captured them and put them into the hands of their enemies

when they were experiencing those disasters."

ULB:

¹² But do not gloat over your brother's day, in the day of his misfortune, and do not rejoice over the people of Judah in the day of their destruction; do not boast in the day of their distress. ¹³ Do not enter my people's gate in the day of their calamity; do not gloat over their affliction in the day of their disaster, do not loot their wealth in the day of their ruin. ¹⁴ Do not stand at the crossroads, to cut off his fugitives and do not hand over his survivors in the day of distress.

translationWords:

- brother
- rejoice
- Judah
- boast, boastful
- people of God, my people
- gate, gate bar
- afflict, affliction
- ruin, ruins
- cut off

Obadiah 1:12-14 translationNotes

translationNotes:

- **General Information:** Yahweh continues giving Obadiah his message to Edom.
- do not gloat over "do not be happy because of" or "do not take pleasure in"
- your brother's This was a way of referring to the people of Israel because Jacob and Esau were brothers.
- day AT: "day of punishment" or "time of punishment." (See: Idiom)
- misfortune "disaster" or "trouble"
- in the day of their destruction "in the day that their enemies destroy them"
- in the day of their distress "because of the time that they are suffering"
- **calamity** ... **disaster** ... **ruin** These are all different translations of the same word. Translators should use one word to translate all three of these.
- over their affliction "because of the bad things that happen to them"
- do not loot their wealth "do not take their wealth" "or "do not steal their wealth"
- crossroads a place where two roads come together
- to cut off his fugitives "to kill the people of Israel who are trying to escape" or "to catch those who were trying to escape" (UDB)
- **do not hand over his survivors** "do not capture those who are still alive and give them to their enemies"

- Introduction to Obadiah
- Obadiah 01 Translation Questions

translationNotes Obadiah 1:15-16

Obadiah 1:15-16

UDB:

¹⁵ "There will soon be the time when I, Yahweh, will judge and punish all the nations.

And you people of Edom will experience the same disasters that you caused others to experience.

The same evil things that you have done to others will happen to you.

¹⁶ It is as though you drank a cup of very bitter liquid on Zion, my sacred hill.

But I will punish all the other nations just as severely, and cause them to disappear completely.

ULB:

¹⁵ For the day of Yahweh is near upon all the nations. As you have done, it will be done to you; your deeds will return on your own head. ¹⁶ For as you have drunk on my holy mountain, so will all the nations drink continually. They will drink and swallow and it will be as though they had never existed.

translationWords:

- day of the Lord, day of Yahweh
- nation
- works, deeds, work, acts
- head
- holy, holiness

translationNotes:

- **General Information:** Yahweh continues giving Obadiah his message to Edom.
- For the day of Yahweh is near upon all the nations "Soon the time will come when Yahweh will show all the nations that he is Lord."
- As you have done, it will be done to you "I will do to you the same things that you did to others." (See: Active or Passive)
- your deeds will return on your own head AT: "you will suffer the consequences for the things you have done." (See: Idiom)
- For as you The word "you" to the people of Edom.
- **as you have drunk** The prophets describe people whom Yahweh punished as drinking the punishment from Yahweh AT: "as I have punished you." (See: Metaphor)

Obadiah 1:15-16 translationNotes

- my holy mountain This was a way of referring to Jerusalem.
- will all the nations drink continually AT: "I will punish all of the nations without stopping." Yahweh punished Jerusalem, but he stopped before he destroyed all of the people. However, he will punish the rest of the nations until they no longer exist.

- Introduction to Obadiah
- Obadiah 01 Translation Questions

translationNotes Obadiah 1:17-18

Obadiah 1:17-18

UDB:

¹⁷ But some people in Jerusalem will escape,

and Jerusalem will become a very holy place.

Then the descendants of Jacob will conquer and possess again the land that truly belongs to them.

¹⁸ The descendants of Jacob and his son Joseph will be like a fire,

and the people of Edom will be like stubble that will be completely burned in that fire.

Not one person will remain alive.

That will surely happen because I, Yahweh, have said it."

ULB:

¹⁷ But in Mount Zion there will be those that escape and it will be holy; and the house of Jacob shall possess their own possessions. ¹⁸ The house of Jacob will be a fire, and the house of Joseph a flame, and the house of Esau will be stubble, and they will burn them, and consume them. There will be no survivors to the house of Esau, for Yahweh has spoken it."

translationWords:

- Zion, Mount Zion
- holy, holiness
- house
- Jacob, Israel
- possess, possession
- fire
- Joseph (OT)
- Esau
- consume
- Yahweh

translationNotes:

• General Information: - Yahweh continues giving Obadiah his message.

Obadiah 1:17-18 translationNotes

• **escape** - "escape the punishment of Yahweh." These are the people that are still alive after Yahweh has punished. (See: Assumed Knowledge and Implicit Information)

- and it The word "it" refers to "mount Zion."
- house of Jacob ... Joseph a flame Yahweh compares the houses of Jacob and Joseph to fire because they will destroy Esau like a fire that quickly and completely burns up straw. (See: Metaphor)
- **stubble** "straw" or "chaff." The dry pieces of plant that are left after grain is harvested.
- and they The word "they" refers to the house of Jacob and the house of Joseph.
- will burn them The word "them" refers to the descendants of Esau, who are the nation of Edom.
- There will be no survivors to the house of Esau "Not one person of the house of Esau will survive"

- Introduction to Obadiah
- Obadiah 01 Translation Questions

translationNotes Obadiah 1:19

Obadiah 1:19

UDB:

¹⁹ The Israelites who live in the southern Judean wilderness are the ones who will capture Edom.

And those who live in the western foothills will capture the region of Phoenicia and the areas of Ephraim and Samaria.

And people of the tribe of Benjamin will conquer the region of Gilead.

ULB:

¹⁹ Those from the Negev will possess the mount of Esau and those of the Shepelah will possess the land of the Philistines. They will possess the land of Ephraim and the land of Samaria; and Benjamin will possess Gilead.

translationWords:

- Negev
- possess, possession
- Esau
- Philistines
- Ephraim
- Samaria, Samaritan
- Benjamin
- Gilead

translationNotes:

• Benjamin - "the tribe of Benjamin" or "the people of Benjamin"

- Introduction to Obadiah
- Obadiah 01 Translation Questions

Obadiah 1:20-21 translationNotes

Obadiah 1:20-21

UDB:

²⁰ Those who were exiled in Babylon will return to their land

and capture the region of Phoenicia as far north as Zarephath on the coast of the Mediterranean Sea.

People of Jerusalem who were captured and taken to Sardis, the capital city of the region of Lydia, will capture the towns in the southern Judean wilderness.

²¹ The army of Jerusalem will attack Edom and conquer it, and Yahweh will be their king.

ULB:

²⁰ The exiles of this host of the people of Israel will possess the land of Canaan as far as Zarephath. The exiles of Jerusalem, who are in Sepharad, will possess the cities of the Negev. ²¹ Deliverers will go up to Mount Zion to rule over the hill country of Esau, and the kingdom will belong to Yahweh.[1]Instead of *deliverers*, several modern versions follow some ancient interpreters in reading those who will be delivered.

translationWords:

- exile, the Exile
- Israel, Israelites, nation of Israel
- Canaan, Canaanite
- Jerusalem
- Negev
- deliver, deliverer, deliverance
- Zion, Mount Zion
- judge, judgment
- Esau
- kingdom
- Yahweh

translationNotes:

- The exiles of this host of the people of Israel "Those of the host of the people of Israel who were in exile"
- host a very large group of people

translationNotes Obadiah 1:20-21

• **Zarephath** - This is the name of a Phoenician city on the coast of the Mediterranean between Tyre and Sidon. (See: How to Translate Names)

- **Sepharad** This is the name of a place whose location is unknown. (See: How to Translate Names)
- **deliverers** This refers to various Israelite military leaders whom God will use to defeat the nation of Edom.

- Introduction to Obadiah
- Obadiah 01 Translation Questions

translation Questions

Obadiah 1

Q? For what purpose did Yahweh send an ambassador among the nations?
A. Yahweh sent an ambassador among the nations to cause the nations to rise up for battle against Edom. [1:1]
Q? What was one of the sins of the Edomites?
A. The Edomites had pride in their heart and believed that they could not be brought down to the ground. [1:3]
Q? Who will deceive and prevail against Edom?
A. The men who had an alliance of peace with Edom will deceive and betray Edom. [1:7]
Q? Why will Edom be covered with shame and cut off forever?
${f A.}$ Edom will be covered with shame and cut off forever because of the violence Edom did to her brother Jacob. [1:10]
Q? What happened on the day that Edom stood aloof from Jacob?
A. On that day, strangers entered the gates of Jerusalem and carried away its wealth. [1:11]
Q? What did Yahweh tell Edom not to do regarding Judah in the day of Judah's distress?
A. Yahweh told Edom not to gloat, rejoice, or loot Judah's wealth in the day of Judah's distress. [1:12-13]

Q? What did Yahweh say would return on Edom's head?
A. Yahweh said that Edom's own deeds would return on Edom's head. [1:15]
Q? What would some in Mount Zion be able to do despite the distress of Judah?
A. Some in Mount Zion would be able to escape despite the distress of Judah. [1:17]
Q? How many of Edom would escape the judgment of Yahweh?
A. There would be no survivors in Edom after Yahweh's judgment. [1:18]
Q? Who would then possess the mount of Esau?
A. Those from the Negev would then possess the mount of Esau. [1:19]
Q? From where would the mount of Esau then be judged?
A. The mount of Esau would then be judged from mount Zion. [1:21]

afflict, affliction translationWords

translationWords

afflict, affliction

Definition:

The term "afflict" means to cause someone distress or suffering. An "affliction" is the disease, emotional grief, or other disaster that results from this.

- God afflicted his people with sickness or other hardships in order to cause them to repent of their sins and turn back to him.
- God caused afflictions or plagues to come on the people of Egypt because their king refused to obey God.
- To "be afflicted with" means to be suffering some kind of distress, such as a disease, persecution, or emotional grief.

Translation Suggestions:

- To afflict someone could be translated as "cause someone to experience troubles" or "cause someone to suffer" or "cause suffering to come."
- In certain contexts "afflict" could be translated as "happen to" or "come to" or "bring suffering."
- A phrase like, "afflict someone with leprosy" could be translated as, "cause someone to be sick with leprosy."
- When a disease or disaster is sent to "afflict" people or animals, this could be translated as "cause suffering to."
- Depending on the context, the term "affliction" could be translated as "calamity" or "sickness" or "suffering" or "great distress." physical
- The phrase "afflicted with" could also be translated as, "suffering from" or "sick with."

(See: leprosy, leper, leprous, plague, suffer, suffering)

Bible References:

ambassador, representative

Definition:

An ambassador is a person who is chosen to officially represent his country in relating to foreign nations. It is also used in a figurative sense and is sometimes translated more generally as "representative."

- An ambassador or representative gives people messages from the person or government that sent him.
- The more general term "representative" refers to someone who has been given the authority to act and speak on behalf of the person he he is representing.
- The apostle Paul taught that Christians are Christ's "ambassadors" or "representatives" since they represent Christ in this world and teach others his message.
- Depending on the context, this term could be translated as, "official representative" or "appointed messenger" or "chosen representative" or "God's appointed representative."
- A "delegation of ambassadors" could be translated as "some official messengers" or "group of appointed representatives" or "official party of people to speak for all people."

(See: How to Translate Unknowns)

(See: messenger other)

Bible References:

Benjamin translationWords

Benjamin

Facts:

Benjamin was the youngest son born to Jacob and his wife Rachel. His name means, "son of my right hand."

- He and his older brother Joseph were the only children of Rachel, who died after Benjamin was born.
- The descendants of Benjamin became one of the twelve tribes of Israel.
- King Saul was from the Israelite tribe of Benjamin.
- The apostle Paul was also from the tribe of Benjamin.

(Translation suggestions: How to Translate Names)

(See also: Israel, Israelites, nation of Israel, Jacob, Israel, Joseph (OT), Paul, Saul, Rachel, twelve tribes of Israel)

Bible References:

translationWords boast, boastful

boast, boastful

Definition:

The term "boast" means to talk proudly about something or someone. Often it means to brag about oneself.

- Someone who is "boastful" talks about himself in a proud way.
- God rebuked the Israelites for "boasting in" their idols. They arrogantly worshiped false gods instead of the true God.
- The Bible also talks about people boasting in such things as their wealth, their strength, their fruitful fields, and their laws. This means that they were proud about these things and did not acknowledge that God is the one who provided these things.
- God urged the Israelites to instead "boast" or be proud about the fact that they know him.
- The apostle, Paul also talks about boasting in the Lord, which means being glad and thankful to God for all he has done for them.

Translation Suggestions:

- Other ways to translate "boast" could include "brag" or "talk proudly" or "be proud."
- The term "boastful" could be translated by a word or phrase that means, "full of prideful talk" or "prideful" or "talking proudly about oneself."
- In the context of boasting in or about knowing God, this could be translated as "take pride in" or "exalt in" or "be very glad about" or "give thanks to God about."
- Some languages have two words for "pride": one that is negative, with the meaning of being arrogant, and the other that is positive, with the meaning of taking pride in ones' work, family, or country.

Translation Suggestions:

(See also: proud, pride, prideful)

Bible References:

bread translationWords

bread

Definition:

Bread is a food made from flour mixed with water and oil to form a dough. The dough is then shaped into a loaf and baked.

- When the term "loaf" occurs by itself, it means, "loaf of bread."
- Bread dough is usually made with something that makes it rise, such as yeast.
- Bread can also be made without yeast so that it does not rise. In the Bible this is called "unleavened bread" and was used for the Jews' passover meal.
- Since bread was the main food for many people in biblical times, this term is also used in the Bible to refer to food in general. (See: Synecdoche)
- The term "bread of the presence" referred to twelve loaves of bread that were placed on a golden table in the tabernacle or temple building as a sacrifice to God. These loaves represented the twelve tribes of Israel and were only for the priests to eat. This could be translated as "bread showing that God lived among them."
- The figurative term, "bread from heaven" referred to the special white food called "manna" that God provided for the Israelites when they were wandering through the desert.
- Jesus also called himself the "bread that came down from heaven" and the "bread of life."
- When Jesus and his disciples were eating the Passover meal together before his death, he
 compared the unleavened Passover bread to his body which would be wounded and killed
 on a cross.
- Many times the term "bread" can be translated more generally as "food."

(See also: Passover, tabernacle, temple, unleavened bread, Festival of Unleavened Bread, yeast, leaven)

Bible References:

translationWords brother

brother

Definition:

The term "brother" usually refers to a male person who shares at least one biological parent with another person.

- In the Old Testament, the term "brothers" is also used as a general reference to relatives, such as members of the same tribe, clan, or people group.
- In the New Testament, the apostles often used "brothers" to refer to fellow Christians, including both men and women, since all believers in Christ are members of one spiritual family, with God as their heavenly Father.
- A few times in the New Testament, the apostles used the term "sister" when referring specifically to a fellow Christian who was a woman, or to emphasize that both men and women are being included. For example, James emphasizes that he is talking about all believers when he refers to "a brother or sister who is in need of food or clothing."

Translation Suggestions:

- It is best to translate this term with the literal word that is used in the target language to refer to a natural or biological brother, unless this would give wrong meaning.
- In the Old Testament especially, when "brothers" is used very generally to refer to members of the same family, clan, or people group, possible translations could include, "relatives" or "clan members" or "fellow Israelites."
- In the context of referring to a fellow believer in Christ, this term could be translated as, "brother in Christ" or "spiritual brother."
- If both males and females are being referred to and "brother" would give a wrong meaning, then a more general kinship term could be used that would include both males and females.
- Other ways to translate this term so that it refers to both male and female believers could be, "fellow believers" or "Christian brothers and sisters."
- Make sure to check the context to determine whether only men are being referred to, or whether both men and women are included.

(See also: apostle, the twelve, the eleven, God the Father, Heavenly Father, sister, spirit, spiritual)

Bible References:

Canaan, Canaanite translationWords

Canaan, Canaanite

Facts:

Canaan was the son of Ham, who was one of Noah's sons. The Canaanites were the descendants of Canaan.

- The term "Canaan" or the "land of Canaan" also referred to an area of land between the Jordan River and the Mediterranean Sea. It extended south to the border of Egypt and north to the border of Syria.
- This land was inhabited by the Canaanites, as well as several other people groups.
- God promised to give the land of Canaan to Abraham and his descendants, the Israelites.

(Translation suggestions: How to Translate Names)

(See also: Ham, Promised Land)

Bible References:

Waiting

- **[04-05]** He (Abram) took his wife, Sarai, together with all his servants and everything he owned and went to the land God showed him, the land of **Canaan**.
- [04-06] When Abram arrived in Canaan God said, "Look all around you. I will give to you and your descendants all the land that you can see as an inheritance."
- [04-09]"I give the land of Canaan to your descendants."
- [05-03]"I will give you and your descendants the land of **Canaan** as their possession and I will be their God forever."
- [07-08] After twenty years away from his home in **Canaan**, Jacob returned there with his family, his servants, and all his herds of animals.

translationWords consume

consume

Definition:

The term "consume" literally means to use up something. It has several figurative meanings.

- In the Bible, the word "consume" often refers to destroying things or people.
- A fire is said to consume things, which means it destroys them by burning them up.
- God is described as a "consuming fire," which is a description of his anger against sin. His anger results in terrible punishment for sinners who do not repent.
- To consume food means to eat or drink something.
- The phrase, "consume the land" could be translated as "destroy the land."

Translation Suggestions

- In the context of consuming the land or people, this term could be translated as "destroy."
- When fire is referred to, "consume" could be translated as "burn up."
- The burning bush that Moses saw "was not consumed" which could be translated as, "did not get burned up" or "did not burn up."
- When referring to eating, "consume" could be translated as "eat" or "devour."
- If someone's strength is "consumed," it means his strength is "used up" or "gone."
- The expression, "God is a consuming fire" could be translated as, "God is like a fire that burns things up" or "God is angry against sin and will destroy sinners like a fire."

(See: devour, wrath, fury)

Bible References:

cut off translationWords

cut off

Definition:

The expression "be cut off" is an expression that means to be excluded, banished or isolated from the main group. It can also refer to being killed as an act of divine judgment for sin.

- In the Old Testament, disobeying God's commands resulted in being cut off, or separated, from God's people and from his presence.
- God also said he would "cut off" or destroy the non-Israelite nations, because they did not worship or obey him and were enemies of Israel.
- The expression "cut off" is also used to refer to God causing a river to stop flowing.

Translation Suggestions:

- The expression "be cut off" could be translated as "be banished" or "be sent away" or "be separated from" or "be killed" or "be destroyed."
- Depending on the context, "to cut off" could be translated as, "to destroy" or "to send away" or "to separate from" or "to destroy."
- In the context of flowing waters being cut off, this could be translated as "were stopped" or "were caused to stop flowing" or "were divided."
- The literal meaning of cutting something with a knife should be distinguished from the figurative uses of this term.

Bible References:

day of the Lord, day of Yahweh

Description:

The Old Testament term "day of Yahweh" is used to refer to a specific time(s) when God would punish people for their sin.

- The New Testament term "day of the Lord" usually refers to the day or time when the Lord Jesus will come back to judge people at the end of time.
- This final, future time of judgment and resurrection, is also sometimes referred to as the "last day." This time will begin when the Lord Jesus comes back to judge sinners and will permanently establish his rule.
- The word "day" in these phrases may sometimes refer to a literal day or it may refer to a "time" or "occasion" that is longer than a day.
- Sometimes the punishment is referred to as a "pouring out of God's wrath" upon those who do not believe.

Translation Suggestions:

- Depending on the context, other ways to translate "day of Yahweh" could include, "time of Yahweh" or "time when Yahweh will punish his enemies" or "time of Yahweh's wrath."
- Other ways to translate "day of the Lord" could include "time of the Lord's judgment" or "time when the Lord Jesus will return to judge people."

(See also: biblical time: day, judgment day, Lord, resurrection, Yahweh)

Bible References:

deceive, deceit, deception, deceptive

Definition:

The term "deceive" means to cause someone to believe something that is not true. The act of deceiving someone is called "deceit."

- Another term, "deception" also refers to the act of causing someone to believe something that is not true.
- Someone who causes others to believe something false is a "deceiver." For example, Satan is called a "deceiver." The evil spirits that he controls are also deceivers.
- A person, action, or message that is not truthful can be described as "deceptive."
- The terms "deceit" and "deception" have the same meaning, but there are some small differences in how they are used.
- The descriptive terms, "deceitful" and "deceptive" have the same meaning and are used in the same contexts.

Translation Suggestions:

- Other ways to translate "deceive" could include "lie to" or "cause to have a false belief" or "cause someone to think something that is not true."
- The term "deceived" could also be translated as, "caused to think something false" or "lied to" or "tricked" or "fooled" or "misled."
- "Deceiver" could be translated as, "liar" or "one who misleads" or "someone who deceives."
- Depending on the context, the terms "deception" or "deceit" could be translated with a word or phrase that means "falsehood" or "lying" or "trickery" or "dishonesty."
- The terms "deceptive" or "deceitful" could be translated by "untruthful" or "misleading" or "lying" to describe a person who speaks or acts in a way that causes other people to believe things that are not true.

(See: true, truth, come true)

Bible References:

Waiting

{{tag>publish review}

deliver, deliverer, deliverance

Definition:

To "deliver" someone means to rescue that person. The term "deliverer" refers to someone who rescues or frees people from slavery, oppression, or other dangers. The term "deliverance" refers to what happens when someone rescues or frees people from slavery, oppression, or other dangers.

- In the Old Testament, God appointed deliverers to protect the Israelites by leading them in battle against other people groups who came to attack them.
- These deliverers were also called "judges" and the Old Testament book of Judges records the time in history when these judges were governing Israel.
- God is also called a "deliverer." Throughout the history of Israel, he delivered or rescued his people from their enemies.
- The term "deliver over to" or "deliver up to" has a very different meaning of handing someone over to an enemy, such as when Judas delivered Jesus over to the Jewish leaders.

Translation Suggestions:

- In the context of helping people escape from their enemies, the term "deliver" can be translated as "rescue" or "liberate" or "save."
- When it means to deliver someone over to the enemy, "deliver over" can be translated as "betray to" or "hand over" or "give over."
- The word "deliverer" can also be translated as, "rescuer" or "liberator."
- When the term "deliverer" refers to the judges who led Israel, it could also be translated as "governor" or "judge" or "leader."

(See: judge, judgment, save, safe)

Bible References:

Waiting

- [16-03] Then God provided a **deliverer** who rescued them from their enemies and brought peace to the land.
- [16-16] They (Israel) finally asked God for help again, and God sent them another deliverer.
- [16-17] Over many years, God sent many **deliverers** who saved the Israelites from their enemies.

eagle translationWords

eagle

Definition:

An eagle is a very large, powerful bird of prey that eats small animals such as fish, mice, snakes, and chickens.

• The Bible compares the speed and strength of an army to how fast and suddenly an eagle swoops down to catch its prey.

- Isaiah states that those who trust in the Lord will soar as an eagle does. This is figurative language used to describe the freedom and strength that comes from trusting and obeying God.
- In the book of Daniel, King Nebuchadnezzar's hair length was compared to the length of an eagle's feathers, which can be more than 50 centimeters long.

(See: Daniel, free, freedom, liberty, Nebuchadnezzar, power, powers)

(See: How to Translate Unknowns)

Bible References:

Edom, Edomite, Idumea

Facts:

Edom was another name for Esau. The region where he lived also became known as "Edom" and later, "Idumea." The "Edomites" were his descendants.

- The region of Edom changed locations over time. It was mostly located to the south of Israel and eventually extended into southern Judah.
- During New Testament times, Edom covered the southern half of the province of Judea. The Greeks called it "Idumea."
- The name "Edom" means "red," which may refer to the fact that Esau was covered with red hair when he was born. Or it may refer to the red lentil stew that Esau traded his birthright for.
- In the Old Testament, the country of Edom is often mentioned as an enemy of Israel.
- The entire book of Obadiah is about the destruction of Edom. Other Old Testament prophets also spoke negative prophecies against Edom.

(Translation suggestions: How to Translate Names)

(See also: adversary, enemy, birthright, Esau, Obadiah, prophet, prophecy, prophesy, seer, prophetess)

Bible References:

Ephraim translationWords

Ephraim

Facts:

Ephraim was the second son of Joseph. His descendants, the Ephraimites, formed one of the twelve tribes of Israel.

• The tribe of Ephraim was one of the ten tribes that were located in the northern part of Israel.

- Sometimes the name Ephraim is used in the Bible to refer to the whole northern kingdom of Israel. (See: Synecdoche)
- Ephraim was apparently a very mountainous or hilly area, based on references to "the hill country of Ephraim" or "the mountains of Ephraim."

(Translation suggestions: How to Translate Names)

(See also: Israel, kingdom of Israel, twelvetribesofisrael)

Bible References:

translationWords Esau

Esau

Facts:

Esau was one of the twin sons of Isaac and Rebekah. He was the first baby born. His twin brother was Jacob.

- Esau sold his birthright to his brother Jacob in exchange for a bowl of food.
- Since Esau was born first, his father Isaac was supposed to give him a special blessing. But Jacob tricked Isaac into giving him that blessing instead. At first Esau was so angry that he wanted to kill Jacob, but later he forgave him.
- Esau had many children and grandchildren, and these descendants formed a large people group living in the land of Canaan.

(Translation suggestions: How to Translate Names)

(See also: Edom, Edomite, Idumea, Isaac, , Jacob, Israel, Rebekah)

Bible References:

Waiting

- [06-07] When Rebekah's babies were born, the older son came out red and hairy, and they named him **Esau**.
- [07-02] So Esau gave Jacob his rights as the oldest son.
- [07-04] When Isaac felt the goat hair and smelled the clothes, he thought it was **Esau** and blessed him.
- [07-05] Esau hated Jacob because Jacob had stolen his rights as oldest son and also his blessing.
- [07-10] But **Esau** had already forgiven Jacob, and they were happy to see each other again.

exile, the Exile translationWords

exile, the Exile

Definition:

The term "exile" refers to people being forced to live somewhere away from their home country.

- People are usually sent into exile for punishment or for political reasons.
- A conquered people may be taken into exile to the country of the conquering army, in order to work for them.
- The "Babylonian Exile" (or "the Exile") is a period in Bible history when many Jewish citizens of the region of Judah were taken from their homes and forced to live in Babylon. It lasted 70 years.
- The phrase "the exiles" refers to people who are living in exile, away from their home country.

Translation Suggestions:

- The term "to exile" could also be translated as, "to send away" or "to force out" or "to banish."
- The term "the Exile" could be translated with a word or phrase that means, "the sent away time" or "the time of banishment" or "the time of forced absence" or "banishment."
- Ways to translate "the exiles" could include, "the exiled people" or "the people who were banished" or "the people exiled to Babylon."

(See also: Babylon, Babylonian, Judah, kingdom of Judah)

Bible References:

translationWords fire

fire

Definition:

Fire is the heat, light, and flames that are produced when something is burned.

- Burning wood by fire turns the wood into ashes.
- The term "fire" is also used figuratively, usually referring to judgment or purification.
- The final judgment of unbelievers is in the fire of hell.
- Fire is used to refine gold and other metals. In the Bible, this process is used to explain how God refines people through difficult things that happen in their lives.
- The phrase "baptize with fire" could also be translated as, "cause you to experience suffering in order to purify you."

(See also: pure, purify, purification)

Bible References:

foreigner, foreign, alien

Definition:

The term "foreigner" refers to a person living in a country that is not his own. Another name for a foreigner is an "alien."

- In the Old Testament, this term especially refers to anyone who came from a different people group than the people he was living among.
- A foreigner is also a person whose language and culture is different from your own.
- For example, when Naomi and her family moved to Moab, they were foreigners there. When Naomi and her daughter-in-law Ruth later moved to Israel, Ruth was called a "foreigner" there because she was not originally from Israel.
- The apostle Paul told the Ephesians that before they knew Christ, they were "foreigners" to God's covenant.
- Sometimes "foreigner" is translated as "stranger," but it should not only refer to someone who is unfamiliar or unknown.

Bible References:

translationWords forever

forever

Definition:

In the Bible, the term "forever" refers to never-ending time. Sometimes it is used figuratively to mean, "a very long time."

- The term "forever and ever" emphasizes that something will always exist.
- The phrase "forever and ever" is a way of expressing what eternity or eternal life is. It also has the idea of time that never ends.
- God said that David's throne would last "forever." This is referring to the fact that David's descendant Jesus will reign as king forever.

Translation Suggestions:

- This term could also be translated by "always" or "never ending."
- The phrase, "will last forever" could also be translated as "always exist" or "will never stop" or "will always continue."
- The emphatic phrase, "forever and ever" could also be translated as, "for always and always" or "not ever ending" or "which never, ever ends."
- David's throne lasting forever could be translated as, "David's descendant will reign forever" or "a descendant of mine will always be reigning."

(See also: David, everlasting, eternal, eternity, reign)

Bible References:

gate, gate bar translationWords

gate, gate bar

Definition:

A "gate" is a hinged barrier at an access point in a fence or wall that surrounds a house or city. The "gate bar" refers to a wooden or metal bar that can be moved into place to lock the gate.

- A city gate could be opened to allow people, animals, and cargo to travel in and out of the city.
- To protect the city, its walls and gates were thick and strong. Gates were closed and locked with a metal or wooden bar to prevent enemy soldiers from entering the city.
- A city gate was often the news and social center of a village. It was also where business transactions occurred and judgments were made, because city walls were thick enough to have gateways that produced cool shade from the hot sun. Citizens found it pleasant to sit in the shade to conduct their business and even to judge legal cases.

Translation Suggestions:

- Depending on the context, other ways to translate "gate" could be, "door" or "wall opening" or "barrier" or "entranceway."
- The phrase, "bars of the gate" could be translated as, "gate bolts" or "wooden beams to lock the gate" or "metal locking rods of the gate."

Bible References:

translationWords Gilead

Gilead

Definition:

Gilead is the name of a mountainous region east of the Jordan river, where the Israelite tribes of Gad, Reuben, and Manasseh lived.

- This region is also referred to as the "hill country of Gilead" or "Mount Gilead."
- "Gilead" was also the name of several men in the Old Testament. One of these men was the grandson of Manasseh. Another Gilead was the father of Jephthah.

(Translation suggestions: How to Translate Names)

(See also: Gad, Jephthah, Manasseh, Reuben, twelve tribes of Israel)

Bible References:

glean, gleaning translationWords

glean, gleaning

Definition:

The term "glean" means to go through a field or orchard to pick up whatever grain or fruit the harvesters have left behind.

- God told the Israelites to let the widows, poor people, and foreigners glean the leftover grain in order to provide food for themselves.
- Sometimes the owner of the field would allow the gleaners to go directly behind the harvesters to glean, which enabled them to glean much more of the grain.
- A clear example of how this worked is in the story of Ruth, who was generously allowed to glean among the harvesters in the fields of her relative Boaz.
- Other ways to translate "glean" can be, "pick up" or "gather" or "collect."

(See also: Boaz, grain, harvest, Ruth)

Bible References:

translationWords grape

grape

Definition:

A grape is a small, round, smooth-skinned berry fruit that grows in clusters on vines. The juice of grapes is used in making wine.

- There are different colors of grapes, such as light green, purple, or red.
- Individiual grapes can be around one to three centimeters in size.
- People grow grapes in gardens called vineyards. These normally consist of long rows of vines.
- Grapes were a very important food during Bible times and having vineyards was a sign of wealth.
- In order to keep grapes from rotting, people would often dry them. Dried grapes are called "raisins" and they were used to make raisin cakes.
- Jesus told a parable about a grape vineyard to teach his disciples about God's kingdom.

(See also: vine, vineyard, wine, wineskin, new wine)

Bible References:

head translationWords

head

Definition:

In the Bible, the word "head" is used with several figurative meanings.

• Often this term is used to refer to being in authority over people, as in, "you have made me the head over nations." This could be translated as, "You have made me the ruler..." or "You have given me authority over..."

- Jesus is called the "head of the church." Just as a person's head guides and directs the members of its body, so Jesus guides and directs the members of his "body," the Church.
- The New Testament teaches that a husband is the "head" or authority of his wife. He is given the responsibility of leading and guiding his wife and family.
- The expression, "no razor will ever touch his head" means " he will never cut or shave his hair."
- The term "head" can also refer to the beginning or source of something as in the "head of the street."
- The expression "heads of grain" refers to the top part of a wheat or barley plant that contains the seeds.
- Another figurative use for "head" is when it is used to represent the whole person as in, "this gray head" referring to an elderly person or "the head of Joseph" referring to Joseph. (See: Synecdoche)
- The expression "let their blood be on his own head" means that the man is responsible for their deaths and will receive the punishment for that.

Translation Suggestions

- Depending on the context, the term "head" could be translated as, "authority" or "the one who leads and directs" or "the one who is responsible for."
- The expression "head of" can refer to the whole person and so this expression could be translated using just the person's name. For example, "the head of Joseph" could simply be translated as "Joseph."
- The expression "will be on his own head" could be translated as "will be on him" or "he will be punished for" or "he will be held responsible for" or "he will be considered guilty for."
- Depending on the context, other ways to translate this term could include, "beginning" or "source" or "ruler" or "leader" or "top."

(See: grain)

Bible References:

Waiting

• Prev chunk: publish-current

translationWords head

- This chunk: review-publish | publish-current
- Next chunk: publish-current

heart translationWords

heart

Definition:

In the Bible, the term "heart" is often used figuratively to refer to a person's thoughts, emotions, desires, or will.

- To have a "hard heart" is a common expression that means a person stubbornly refuses to obey God.
- The expressions "with all my heart" or "with my whole heart" mean to do something with no holding back, with complete commitment and willingness.
- The expression, "take it to heart" means to treat something seriously and apply it to one's life.
- The term "brokenhearted" describes a person who is very sad. They have been deeply hurt emotionally.

Translation Suggestions

- Some languages use a different body part such as "stomach" or "liver" to refer to these ideas.
- Other languages may use one word to express some of these concepts and another word to express others.
- If "heart" or other body part does not have this meaning, some languages may need to express this nonfiguratively with terms such as "thoughts" or "emotions" or "desires."
- Depending on the context, "with all my heart" or "with my whole heart" could be translated as, "with all my energy" or "with complete dedication" or "completely" or "with total commitment."
- The expression "take it to heart" could be translated as "treat it seriously" or "carefully think about it."
- The expression "hard-hearted" could also be translated as, "stubbornly rebellious" or "refusing to obey" or "continually disobeying God."
- Ways to translate "brokenhearted" could include, "very sad" or "feeling deeply hurt."

(See also: hard, hardness, harden other)

Bible References:

translationWords holy, holiness

holy, holiness

Definition:

The terms "holy" and "holiness" refer to the character of God that is totally set apart and separated from everything that is sinful and imperfect.

- Only God is absolutely holy. He makes people and things holy.
- A person who is holy belongs to God and has been set apart for the purpose of serving God and bringing him glory.
- An object that God has declared to be holy is one that he has set apart for his glory and use, such as an altar that is for the purpose of offering sacrifices to him.
- Since God is holy, people cannot approach him unless he allows them to, because they are mere human beings, sinful and imperfect.
- In the Old Testament, God set apart the priests as holy for special service to him. They had to be ceremonially cleansed from sin in order to approach God.
- God also set apart as holy certain places and things that belonged to him or in which he revealed himself, such as his temple.

Translation Suggestions:

- Ways to translate "holy" might include, "set apart for God" or "belonging to God" or "completely pure" or "perfectly sinless" or "separated from sin."
- To "make holy" is often translated as "sanctify" in English. It could also be translated as "set apart (someone) for God's glory."

(See also: Holy Spirit, Spirit of God, Spirit of the Lord, consecrates anctify, sanctification, set apart)

Bible References:

Waiting

- [01-16] He (God) blessed the seventh day and made it holy, because on this day he rested from his work.
- [09-12]"You are standing on holy ground."
- [13-02]"If you will obey me and keep my covenant, you will be my prized possession, a kingdom of priests, and a **holy** nation."
- [13-05]"Always be sure to keep the Sabbath day holy."
- [22-05]"So the baby will be holy, the Son of God."
- [50-02] As we wait for Jesus to return, God wants us to live in a way that is **holy** and that honors him.

house translationWords

house

Definition:

The term "house" is often used figuratively in the Bible.

• Sometimes it means "household," referring to the people who live together in one house.

- Often "house" refers to a person's descendants or other relatives. For example, the phrase "house of David" refers to all the descendants of King David.
- The terms "house of God" and "house of Yahweh" refer to the tabernacle or temple. These expressions can also refer generally to where God is or dwells.
- In Hebrews 3, "God's house" is used as a metaphor to refer to God's people or more generally, to everything pertaining to God.
- The phrase "house of Israel" can refer generally to the entire nation of Israel or more specifically to the tribes of the northern kingdom of Israel.

Translation Suggestions

- Depending on the context, "house" could be translated as, "household" or "people" or "family" or "descendants" or "temple" or "dwelling place."
- The phrase "house of David" could be translated as, "clan of David" or "family of David" or "descendants of David." Related expressions could be translated in a similar way.
- Different ways to translate "house of Israel" could include, "people of Israel" or "Israel's descendants" or "Israelites."
- The phrase "house of Yahweh" could be translated as "Yahweh's temple" or "place where Yahweh is worshiped" or "place where Yahweh meets with his people" or "where Yahweh dwells."
- "House of God" could be translated in a similar way.

(See also: David, descendant, descended from, house of God, Yahweh's house, household,kingdom of Israel, tabernacle, temple, Yahweh)

Bible References:

Israel, Israelites, nation of Israel

Facts:

The term "Israel" is the name that God gave to Jacob. It means, "he struggles with God."

- The descendants of Jacob became known as the "people of Israel," the "nation of Israel," or the "Israelites."
- God formed his covenant with the people of Israel. They were his chosen people.
- The nation of Israel was made up of twelve tribes.
- Soon after King Solomon died, Israel was divided into two kingdoms: the southern kingdom, called "Judah" and the northern kingdom, called "Israel."
- Often the term "Israel" can be translated as, "the people of Israel" or "the nation of Israel," depending on the context.

(See also: Jacob, Israel, kingdom of Israel, Judah, kingdom of Judah, nation, twelve tribes of Israel)

Bible References:

Waiting

- [08-15] The descendants of the twelve sons became the twelve tribes of Israel.
- [09-03] The Egyptians forced the Israelites to build many buildings and even whole cities.
- [09-05] A certain Israelite woman gave birth to a baby boy.
- [10-01] They said, "This is what the God of Israel says, 'Let my people go!"
- [14-12] But despite all this, the people of Israel complained and grumbled against God and against Moses.
- [15-09] God fought for Israel that day. He caused the Amorites to be confused and he sent large hailstones that killed many of the Amorites.
- [15-12] After this battle, God gave each tribe of **Israel** its own section of the Promised Land. Then God gave **Israel** peace along all its borders.
- [16-16] So God punished Israel again for worshiping idols.
- [43-06] "Men of Israel, Jesus was a man who did many mighty signs and wonders by the power of God, as you have seen and already know."

Jacob, Israel translationWords

Jacob, Israel

Facts:

Jacob was the younger twin son of Isaac and Rebekah.

• Jacob's name means "he grabs the heel" which is an expression meaning, "he deceives." As Jacob was being born, he was holding onto the heel of his twin brother Esau.

- Many years later, God changed Jacob's name to "Israel," which means, "he struggles with God."
- Jacob was clever and deceptive. He found ways to take the firstborn blessing and inheritance rights from his older brother, Esau.
- Esau was angry and planned to kill him, so Jacob left his homeland. But years later Jacob returned with his wives and children to the land of Canaan where Esau was living, and their families lived peacefully near each other.
- Jacob had twelve sons. Their descendants became the twelve tribes of Israel.
- A different man named Jacob is listed as being Joseph's father in Matthew's genealogy.

(Translation suggestions: How to Translate Names)

(See also: Canaan, Canaanite, deceive, deceit, deception, deceptive, Esau, Isaac, Israel, Israelites, nation of Israel, Rebekah, twelve tribes of Israel)

Bible References:

Waiting

- [07-01] As the boys grew up, Rebekah loved **Jacob**, but Isaac loved Esau. **Jacob** loved to stay at home, but Esau loved to hunt.
- [07-07]Jacob lived there for many years, and during that time he married and had twelve sons and a daughter. God made him very wealthy.
- [07-08] After twenty years away from his home in Canaan, Jacob returned there with his family, his servants, and all his herds of animals.
- [07-10] The covenant promises God had promised to Abraham and then to Isaac now passed on to Jacob.
- [08-01] Many years later, when **Jacob** was an old man, he sent his favorite son, Joseph, to check on his brothers who were taking care of the herds.

translationWords Jerusalem

Jerusalem

Facts:

Jerusalem was originally an ancient Canaanite city that later became the most important city in Israel. It is located about 34 kilometers west of the Salt Sea and just north of Bethlehem. It is still the capital city of present-day Israel.

- The name, "Jerusalem" is first mentioned in the book of Joshua. Other Old Testament names for this city include "Salem", "city of Jebus," and "Zion." Both "Jerusalem" and "Salem" have the root meaning of "peace."
- Jerusalem was originally a Jebusite fortress called "Zion" which King David captured and made into his capital city.
- David's son Solomon built the first temple in Jerusalem, on Mount Moriah, which was the mountain where Abraham had offered his son Isaac to God. The temple was rebuilt there after it was destroyed by the Babylonians.
- Because the temple was in Jerusalem, the major Jewish festivals were celebrated there.
- People normally referred to going "up" to Jerusalem since it was located in the mountains.

(See also: Babylon, Babylonian, Christ, Messiah, David, Jebusites, Jebus, Jesus, Jesus Christ, Christ Jesus, Solomon, temple, Zion, Mount Zion)

Bible References:

Waiting

- [17-05] David conquered Jerusalem and made it his capital city.
- [18-02] In Jerusalem, Solomon built the Temple for which his father David had planned and gathered materials.
- [20-07] They (Babylonians) captured the city of **Jerusalem**, destroyed the Temple, and took away all the treasures of the city and the Temple.
- [20-12] So, after seventy years in exile, a small group of Jews returned to the city of Jerusalem in Judah.
- [38-01] About three years after Jesus first began preaching and teaching publicly, Jesus told his disciples that he wanted to celebrate this Passover with them in Jerusalem, and that he would be killed there.
- [38-02] After Jesus and the disciples arrived in **Jerusalem**, Judas went to the Jewish leaders and offered to betray Jesus to them in exchange for money.
- [42-08] "It was also written in the scriptures that my disciples will proclaim that everyone should repent in order to receive forgiveness for their sins. They will do this starting in Jerusalem, and then go to all people groups everywhere."

Jerusalem translationWords

• [42-11] Forty days after Jesus rose from the dead, he told his disciples, "Stay in Jerusalem until you receive power when the Holy Spirit comes on you."

translationWords Joseph (OT)

Joseph (OT)

Facts:

Joseph was the eleventh son of Jacob and the first son of his mother Rachel.

- Joseph was his father's favorite son.
- His brothers were jealous of him and sold him into slavery.
- While in Egypt, Joseph was falsely accused and put into prison.
- In spite of his difficulties, Joseph remained faithful to God.
- God brought him to the second highest place of power in Egypt and used him to save people in a time when there was little food. The people of Egypt, as well as his own family, were kept from starving.

(Translation suggestions: How to Translate Names)

(See also: Egypt, Egyptian, Jacob, Israel)

Bible References:

Waiting

- [08-02] Joseph's brothers hated him because their father loved him most and because Joseph had dreamed that he would be their ruler.
- [08-04] The slave traders took Joseph to Egypt.
- [08-05] Even in prison, Joseph remained faithful to God, and God blessed him.
- **[08-07]** God had given **Joseph** the ability to interpret dreams, so Pharaoh had Joseph brought to him from the prison.
- [08-09] Joseph told the people to store up large amounts of food during the seven years of good harvests.
- [09-02] The Egyptians no longer remembered Joseph and all he had done to help them.

Judah translationWords

Judah

Facts:

Judah was one of Jacob's older sons. His mother was Leah. His descendants were called the "tribe of Judah."

- It was Judah who told his brothers to sell their younger brother Joseph as a slave instead of leaving him to die in a deep pit.
- King David and all the kings after him were descendants of Judah. Jesus, too, was a descendant of Judah.
- When Solomon's reign ended and the nation of Israel divided, the kingdom of Judah was the southern part of the nation.
- In the New Testament book of Revelation, Jesus is called the "Lion of Judah."
- The words "Jew" and "Judea" come from the name "Judah."

(Translation suggestions: How to Translate Names)

(See also: descendant, descended from, Jacob, Israel, Jew, Jewish, Jews, Joseph (OT), Judah, kingdom of Judah, Judea, twelve tribes of Israel)

Bible References:

translationWords judge, judgment

judge, judgment

Definition:

The terms "judge" and "judgment" often refer to making a decision about whether something is morally right or wrong.

- The "judgment of God" often refers to his decision to condemn something or someone as sinful.
- God's judgment usually includes punishing people for their sin.
- The term "judge" can also mean "condemn." God instructs his people not to judge each other in this way.
- Another meaning is "arbitrate between" or "judge between," as in deciding which person is right in a dispute between them.
- In some contexts, God's "judgments" are what he has decided is right and just. They are similar to his decrees, laws, or precepts.
- "Judgment" can refer to wise decision-making ability. A person who lacks "judgment" does not have the wisdom to make wise decisions.

Translation Suggestions:

- Depending on the context, ways to translate "to judge" could include, "to decide" or "to condemn" or "to punish" or "to decree."
- The term "judgment" could be translated as, "punishment" or "decision" or "verdict" or "decree" or "condemnation."
- In some contexts, the phrase "in the judgment" could also be translated as "on judgment day" or "during the time when God judges people."

(See also: decree, judge, judgment day, just, justice, justly, law, principle, law, law of Moses, God's law, law of Yahweh)

Bible References:

Waiting

- [19-16] The prophets warned the people that if they did not stop doing evil and start obeying God, then God would judge them as guilty, and he would punish them.
- [21-08] A king is someone who rules over a kingdom and judges the people. The Messiah would come would be the perfect king who would sit on the throne of his ancestor David. He would reign over the whole world forever, and who would always judge honestly and make the right decisions.

judge, judgment translationWords

• [39-04] The high priest tore his clothes in anger and shouted to the other religious leaders, "We do not need any more witnesses! You have heard him say that he is the Son of God. What is your judgment?"

• **[50-14]** But God will **judge** everyone who does not believe in Jesus. He will throw them into hell, where they will weep and grind their teeth in anguish forever.

translationWords kingdom

kingdom

Definition:

A kingdom is a group of people ruled by a king. It also refers to the realm or political regions over which a king or other ruler has control and authority.

- A kingdom can be of any geographical size. A king might govern a nation or country or only one city.
- The term "kingdom" can also refer to a spiritual reign or authority, as in the term "kingdom of God."
- God is the ruler of all creation, but the term "kingdom of God" especially refers to his reign and authority over the people who have believed in Jesus and who have submitted to his authority.
- The Bible also talks about Satan having a "kingdom" in which he temporarily rules over many things on this earth. His kingdom is evil and is referred to as "darkness."

Translation Suggestions:

- When referring to a physical region that is ruled over by a king, the term "kingdom" could be translated as, "country (ruled by a king)" or "king's territory" or "region ruled by a king."
- In a spiritual sense, "kingdom" could be translated as "ruling" or "reigning" or "controlling" or "governing."
- One way to translate "kingdom of priests" might be, "spiritual priests who are ruled by God."
- The phrase, "kingdom of light" could be translated as, "God's reign that is good like light" or "when God, who is light, rules people" or "the light and goodness of God's kingdom." It is best to keep the word "light" in this expression since that is a very important term in the Bible.
- Note that the term "kingdom" is different from an empire, in which an emperor rules over several countries.

(See also: authority, king, kingdom of God, kingdom of heaven, kingdom of Israel, Judah, Judah, kingdom of Judah, priest, priesthood)

Bible References:

Waiting

- [13-02] God said to Moses and the people of Israel, "If you will obey me and keep my covenant, you will be my prized possession, a **kingdom** of priests, and a holy nation."
- [18-04] God was angry with Solomon and, as a punishment for Solomon's unfaithfulness, he promised to divide the nation of Israel in two **kingdoms** after Solomon's death.

kingdom translationWords

• [18-07] Ten of the tribes of the nation of Israel rebelled against Rehoboam. Only two tribes remained faithful to him. These two tribes became the **kingdom** of Judah.

- [18-08] The other ten tribes of the nation of Israel that rebelled against Rehoboam appointed a man named Jeroboam to be their king. They set up their kingdom in the northern part of the land and were called the kingdom of Israel.
- [21-08] A king is someone who rules over a kingdom and judges the people.

Lord Yahweh, Yahweh God

Facts:

In the Old Testament, "Lord Yahweh" is frequently used to refer to the one true God.

- The term "Lord" is a divine title and "Yahweh" is God's personal name.
- "Yahweh" is also often combined with the term "God" to form "Yahweh God."

Translation Suggestions:

- If some form of "Yahweh" is used for the translation of God's personal name, the terms "Lord Yahweh" and "Yahweh God" can be translated literally. Also consider how the term "Lord" is translated in other contexts when referring to God.
- Some languages put titles after the name and would translate this as "Yahweh Lord." Consider what is natural in the project language: should the title "Lord" come before or after "Yahweh"?
- "Yahweh God" could also be rendered as "God who is called Yahweh" or "God who is the Living One" or "I am, who is God."
- If the translation follows the tradition of rendering "Yahweh" as "Lord" or "LORD," the term "Lord Yahweh" could be translated as "Lord God" or "God who is the Lord." Other possible translations could be, "Master LORD" or "God the LORD."
- The term "Lord Yahweh" should not be rendered as "Lord LORD" because readers may not
 notice the difference in letter size that has traditionally been used to distinguish these two
 words.

(Translation suggestions: How to Translate Names)

(See also: God, lord, master, sir, Lord, Yahweh)

Bible References:

lots, casting lots translationWords

lots, casting lots

Definition:

A "lot" is a marked object that is chosen from among other similar objects as a way of deciding something. "Casting lots" referred to tossing marked objects onto the ground or other surface.

- Often the lots were small marked stones or pieces of broken pottery.
- Some cultures "draw" or "pull out" lots using a bunch of straws. Someone holds the straws so that no one can see how long they are. Each person pulls out a straw and the one who picks the longest (or shortest) straw is the one who is chosen.
- The practice of casting lots was used by the Israelites to find out what God wanted them to do.
- As in the time of Zechariah and Elizabeth, it was also used to choose which priest would perform a specific duty in the temple at a specific time.
- The soldiers who crucified Jesus cast lots to decide who would get to keep Jesus' robe.
- The phrase "casting lots" can be translated as "tossing lots" or "drawing lots" or "rolling lots." Make sure the translation of "cast" does not sound like the lots were being thrown a long distance.
- Depending on the context, the term "lot" could also be translated as "marked stone" or "pottery piece" or "stick" or "piece of straw."
- If a decision is made "by lot" this could be translated as, "by drawing (or throwing) lots."

(See also: Elizabeth, priest, priesthood, Zechariah (OT), Zechariah (NT))

Bible References:

translationWords mighty, might

mighty, might

Definition:

The terms "mighty" and "might" refer to having great strength or power.

• Often the word "might" is another word for "strength." When talking about God, it can mean "power."

- The phrase, "mighty men" often refers to men who are courageous and victorious in battle. David's band of faithful men who helped protect and defend him were often called "mighty men"
- God is also referred to as the "mighty one."
- The phrase, "mighty works" usually refers to the amazing things God does, especially miracles.
- This term is related to the term, "almighty," which is a common description for God, meaning that he has complete power.

Translation Suggestions:

- Depending on the context, the term "mighty" could be translated as "powerful" or "amazing" or "very strong."
- The phrase "his might" could be translated as "his strength" or "his power."
- In Acts 7, Moses is described as a man who was "mighty in word and deed." This could be translated as, "Moses spoke powerful words from God and did miraculous things" or "Moses spoke God's word powerfully and did many amazing things."
- Depending on the context, "mighty works" could be translated as, "amazing things that God does" or "miracles" or "God doing things with power."
- The term "might" could also be translated as "power" or "great strength."
- Do not confuse this term with the English word that is used to express a possibility, as in "It might rain."

(See also: Almighty, miracle, wonder, sign, power, powers, strength, strengthen)

Bible References:

nation translationWords

nation

Definition:

A nation is a large group of people ruled by some form of government. The people of a nation often have the same ancestors and share a common ethnicity.

- The term "nation" usually includes the idea of a well-defined culture and territorial boundaries.
- In the Bible, a "nation" can be a country (like Egypt or Ethiopia), but often it is more general and refers to a people group, especially when used in the plural. It is important to check the context.
- Nations in the Bible included the Israelites, the Philistines, the Assyrians, the Babylonians, the Canaanites, the Romans, and the Greeks, among many others.
- Sometimes the word "nation" is used figuratively to refer to the ancestor of a certain people group, as when Rebekah was told by God that her unborn sons were "nations" that would fight against each other. This could be translated as "the founders of two nations" or the "ancestors of two people groups."
- The word translated as "nation" is also sometimes used to refer to "Gentiles" or to people who do not worship Yahweh. The context usually makes the meaning clear.

Translation Suggestions:

- Depending on the context, the word "nation" could also be translated as, "people group" or "people" or "country."
- If a language has a term for "nation" that is distinct from these other terms, then that term can be used wherever it occurs in the Bible text, as long as it is natural and accurate in each context.
- The plural term "nations" can often be translated as "people groups."
- In certain contexts, this term could also be translated as "Gentiles" or "nonJews."

(See also: Assyria, Assyrian Empire, Babylon, Babylonian, Canaan, Canaanite, Gentile, Greek, Grecian, people group, peoples, the people, a people, Philistines, Rome, Roman)

Bible References:

translationWords Negev

Negev

Facts:

The Negev is a desert region in the southern part of Israel, southwest of the Salt Sea.

- The original word means "the South" and some English versions translate it this way.
- It could be that this southern region is not the same location as the present day Negev Desert.
- When Abraham lived in the city of Kadesh, he was in the Negev or southern region.
- Isaac was living in the Negev when Rebekah traveled to meet him and became his wife.
- The Jewish tribes of Judah and Simeon lived in this southern region.
- The largest city in the Negev region was Beersheba.

(Translation suggestions: How to Translate Names)

(See also: Abraham, Abram, Beersheba, Israel, Israelites, nation of Israel, Judah, Kadesh, Kadesh-Barnea, Meribah Kadesh, Salt Sea, Dead Sea, Simeon)

Bible References:

Obadiah translationWords

Obadiah

Facts:

Obadiah was an Old Testament prophet who prophesied against the people of Edom, who were the descendants of Esau. There were also many other men named Obadiah in the Old Testament.

- The book of Obadiah is the shortest book in the Old Testament and tells a prophecy that Obadiah received through a vision from God.
- It is not clear when Obadiah lived and prophesied. It may have been during the reigns of Jehoram, Ahaziah, Joash, and Athaliah, kings of Judah. The prophets Daniel, Ezekiel, and Jeremiah would also have been prophesying during part of this time.
- Obadiah may also have lived at a later time period, during the reign of King Zedekiah and the Babylonian captivity.
- Other men named Obadiah included a descendant of Saul; a Gadite who became one of David's men; a palace administrator for King Ahab; an official of King Jehoshaphat; a man who helped with repairs to the temple during the time of King Josiah; a Levite who was also a gatekeeper during the time of Nehemiah.
- It could be that the writer of the book of Obadiah was one of these men.

(Translation suggestions: Translate Names)

(See also: Ahab, Babylon, Babylonian, David, Edom, Edomite, Idumea, Esau, Ezekiel, Daniel, Gad, Jehoshaphat, Josiah, Levite, Levi, Saul (OT), Zedekiah)

Bible References:

translationWords peace, peaceful

peace, peaceful

Definition:

The term "peace" refers to a state of being or a feeling of having no conflict, anxiety, or fearfulness. A person who is "peaceful" feels calm and assured of being safe and secure.

- "Peace" can also refer to a time when people groups or countries are not at war with each other. These people are said to have "peaceful relations."
- To "make peace" with a person or a group of people means to take actions to cause fighting to stop.
- A "peacemaker" is someone who does and says things to influence people to live at peace with each other.
- To be "at peace" with other people means being in a state of not fighting against those people.
- A good or right relationship between God and people happens when God saves people from their sin. This is called having "peace with God."
- The greeting "grace and peace" was used by the apostles in their letters to their fellow believers as a blessing.
- The term "peace" can also refer to being in a good relationship with other people or with God.

Bible References:

Waiting

Examples from the Bible stories:

- [15-06] God had commanded the Israelites not to make a **peace** treaty with any of the people groups in Canaan.
- [15-12] Then God gave Israel peace along all its borders.
- [16-03] Then God provided a deliverer who rescued them from their enemies and brought peace to the land.
- [21-13] He (Messiah) would die to receive the punishment for other people's sin. His punishment would bring **peace** between God and people.
- [48-14] David was the king of Israel, but Jesus is the king of the entire universe! He will come again and rule his kingdom with justice and **peace**, forever.
- [50-17] Jesus will rule his kingdom with **peace** and justice, and he will be with his people forever.

people of God, my people

Definition:

The term, "people of God" refers to people whom God has called out from the world to have a special relationship with him.

- When God says, "my people" he is talking about the people whom he has chosen and who have a relationship with him.
- God's people are chosen by him and are set apart from the world to live in a way that is pleasing to him. He also calls them his children.
- In the Old Testament, "people of God" refers to the nation of Israel which was chosen by God and set apart from among the other nations of the world to serve and obey him.
- In the New Testament, "people of God" especially refers to all those who believe in Jesus and are called the Church. This includes both Jews and Gentiles.

Translation Suggestions:

- The term "people of God" could be translated as "God's people" or "the people who worship God" or "people who serve God" or "people who belong to God."
- Other ways to translate "my people" when God says it, could include, "the people I have chosen" or "the people who worship me" or "the people who belong to me."
- Similarly, "your people" could be translated as "the people who belong to you" or "the people you chose to belong to you."
- Also "his people" could be translated as "the people who belong to him" or "the people God chose to belong to himself."

(See also: Israel, Israelites, nation of Israel, people group, peoples, the people, a people)

Bible References:

translationWords Philistines

Philistines

Facts:

The Philistines were a people group who occupied a region known as Philistia along the coast of the Mediterranean Sea. Their name means "people of the sea."

- There were five main Philistine cities: Ashdod, Ashkelon, Ekron, Gath, and Gaza.
- The city of Ashdod was in the northern part of Philistia, and the city of Gaza was in the southern part.
- The Philistines are probably best known for the many years they were at war against the Israelites.
- The judge Samson was a famous warrior against the Philistines, using supernatural strength from God.
- King David often led battles against the Philistines, including the time as a youth when he defeated the Philistine warrior, Goliath.

(Translation suggestions: How to Translate Names)

(See also: Ashdod, Azotus, Ashkelon, David, Ekron, Gath, Gaza, Goliath, Salt Sea, Dead Sea)

Bible References:

possess, possession translationWords

possess, possession

Facts:

The terms "possess" and "possession" usually refer to owning something. They can also mean to gain control over something or occupy an area of land.

- In the Old Testament, this term is often used in the context of "possessing" or "taking possession of" an area of land.
- When Yahweh commanded the Israelites to "possess" the land of Canaan, it meant that they should go into the land and live there. This involved first conquering the Canaanite peoples who were living on that land.
- Yahweh told the Israelites that he had given them the land of Canaan as "their possession." This could also be translated as, "their rightful place to live."
- The people of Israel were also called Yahweh's "special possession." This means that they belonged to him as his people whom he had specifically called to worship and serve him.

Translation Suggestions:

- The terms "possess" could also be translated as, "own" or "have" or "have charge over."
- The phrase, "take possession of" could be translated as "take control of" or "occupy' or "live on," depending on the context.
- When referring to things that people own, "possessions" could be translated as, "belongings" or "property" or "owned things" or "things they owned."
- When Yahweh calls the Israelites, "my special possession" this could also be translated as "my special people" or "people who belong to me" or "my people whom I love and rule."
- The sentence, "they will become their possession" when referring to land, means "they will occupy the land" or "the land will belong to them."
- The expression, "found in his possession" could be translated as, "that he was holding" or "that he had with him."
- The phrase "as your possession" could also be translated as, "as something that belongs to you" or "as a place where your people will live."
- The phrase, "in his possession" could be translated as "that he owned" or "which belonged to him."

(See also: Canaan, Canaanite, worship)

Bible References:

proud, pride, prideful

Definition:

The terms "proud" and "prideful" refer to a person thinking too highly of himself, and especially, thinking that he is better than other people.

- A proud person often does not admit his own faults. He is not humble.
- Pride can lead to disobeying God in other ways.
- The terms "proud" and "pride" can also be used in a positive sense, such as being "proud of" what someone else has achieved and being "proud of" your children. The expression, "take pride in your work" means to find joy in doing your work well.
- Someone can be proud of what he has done without being prideful about it. Some languages have different words for these two different meanings of "pride."
- The term "prideful" is always negative, with the meaning of being "arrogant" or "conceited" or "self-important."

Translation Suggestions:

- The noun "pride" could be translated as, "arrogance" or "conceit" or "self-importance."
- In other contexts, "pride" could be translated as, "joy" or "satisfaction" or "pleasure."
- To be "proud of" could also be translated as, "happy with" or "satisfied with" or "joyful about (the accomplishments of)."
- The phrase "take pride in your work" could be translated as, "find satisfaction in doing your work well."
- The expression, "take pride in Yahweh" could also be translated as, "be delighted about all the wonderful things Yahweh has done" "be happy about how amazing Yahweh is."

(See also: arrogant, humble, humility, joy, joyful)

Bible References:

Waiting

Examples from the Bible stories:

- [04-02] They were very **proud**, and they did not care about what God said.
- [34-10] Then Jesus said, "I tell you the truth, God heard the tax collector's prayer and declared him to be righteous. But he did not like the prayer of the religious leader. God will humble everyone who is **proud**, and he will lift up whoever humbles himself."

raise, rise, risen, arise, arose

Definition:

raise, raise up

In general, the word "raise" means to "lift up" or "make higher."

- The figurative phrase, "raise up" means to cause something to come into being or to appear. It can also mean to appoint someone to do something.
- Sometimes "raise up" means to "restore" or "rebuild."
- "Raise" has a specialized meaning in the phrase, "raise from the dead." It means to cause a dead person to become alive again.
- Sometimes "raise up" means to "exalt" someone or something.

rise, arise

To "rise" or "arise" means to "go up" or "get up." The terms "risen," "rose" and "arose" are used for expressing past action.

- When a person gets up to go somewhere, this is sometimes expressed as, "he arose and went" or "he rose up and went."
- If something "arises" it means it "happens" or "begins to happen."
- Jesus predicted that he would "rise from the dead." Three days after Jesus died, the angel said, "He has risen"!

Translation Suggestions:

- The term "raise" or "raise up" can be translated as "to lift up" or "to make higher."
- To "raise up" could also be translated as, "to cause to appear" or "to appoint" or "to bring into existence."
- To "raise up the strength of your enemies" could be translated as, "cause your enemies to be very strong."
- The phrase "raise someone from the dead," could be translated as "cause someone to return from death to life" or "cause someone to come back to life."
- Depending on the context, "raise up" could also be translated as, "provide" or "appoint" or "cause to have" or "build up" or "rebuild" or "repair."
- The phrase "arose and went" could be translated as "got up and went" or "went."
- Depending on the context, the term "arose" could also be translated as "began" or "started up" or "got up" or "stood up."

(See also: resurrection, appoint, appointed, exalt, exaltation)

Bible References:

Examples from the Bible stories:

- [21-14] The prophets foretold that the Messiah would die and that God would also raise him from the dead.
- [41-05]"Jesus is not here. He has risen from the dead, just like he said he would!"
- [43-07]"Although Jesus died, God **raised** him from the dead. This fulfills the prophecy which says, 'You will not let your Holy One rot in the grave.' We are witnesses to the fact that God **raised** Jesus to life again."
- [44-05]" You killed the author of life, but God raised him from the dead. "
- [44-08] Peter answered them, "This man stands before you healed by the power of Jesus the Messiah. You crucified Jesus, but God raised him to life again!"
- [48-04] This meant that Satan would kill the Messiah, but God would **raise** him to life again, and then the Messiah will crush the power of Satan forever.
- [49-02] He (Jesus) walked on water, calmed storms, healed many sick people, drove out demons, **raised** the dead to life, and turned five loaves of bread and two small fish into enough food for over 5,000 people.
- [49-12] You must believe that Jesus is the Son of God, that he died on the cross instead of you, and that God raised him to life again.

rejoice translationWords

rejoice

Definition:

The term "rejoice" means to be full of joy and gladness.

• This term often refers to being very happy about the good things that God has done.

- It could be translated as, "be very happy" or "be very glad" or "be full of joy."
- When Mary said, "my soul rejoices in God my Savior" she meant, "God my Savior has made me very happy" or "I feel so joyful because of what God my Savior has done for me."

(See also: joy, joyful)

Bible References:

translationWords ruin, ruins

ruin, ruins

Definition:

To "ruin" something means to spoil, destroy, or cause to be useless. The term "ruin" or "ruins" refers to the rubble and spoiled remains of something that has been destroyed.

- The prophet Zephaniah spoke about the day of God's wrath as a "day of ruin" when the world will be judged and punished.
- The book of Proverbs says that ruin and destruction await those who are ungodly.
- Depending on the context, "to ruin" could be translated as "to destroy" or "to spoil" or "to make useless" or "to break."
- The term "ruin" or "ruins" could be translated as "rubble" or "broken-down buildings" or "destroyed city" or "devastation" or "brokenness" or "destruction," depending on the context.

Bible References:

Samaria, Samaritan translationWords

Samaria, Samaritan

Facts:

Samaria was the name of a city and its surrounding region in the northern part of Israel. The region was located between the Plain of Sharon on the west and the Jordan River on the east.

- In the Old Testament, Samaria was the capital city of the northern kingdom of Israel. Later the region surrounding it was also called Samaria.
- When the Assyrians conquered the northern kingdom of Israel, they captured the city of Samaria and forced most of the northern Israelites to leave the region and moved them far away to different cities in Assyria.
- The Assyrians also brought many foreigners into the region of Samaria to replace the Israelites who had been moved.
- Some of the Israelites who remained in that region married the foreigners who had moved there, and their descendants were called Samaritans.
- The Jews despised the Samaritans because they were only partly Jewish and because their ancestors had worshiped pagan gods.
- In New Testament times, the region of Samaria was bordered by the region of Galilee on the north and the region of Judea on the south.

(See also: Assyria, Assyrian Empire, Galilee, Galilean, Judea, Sharon, Plain of Sharon, kingdom of Israel)

Bible References:

Waiting

Examples from the Bible stories:

- [20-04] Then the Assyrians brought foreigners to live in the land where the kingdom of Israel had been. The foreigners rebuilt the destroyed cities and married the Israelites who were left there. The descendants of the Israelites who married foreigners were called **Samaritans**.
- [27-08] "The next person to walk down that road was a **Samaritan**. (**Samaritans** were the descendants of Jews who had married people from other nations. **Samaritans** and Jews hated each other.)"
- [27-09] "The Samaritan then lifted the man onto his own donkey and took him to a roadside inn where he took care of him."
- [45-07] He (Philip) went to **Samaria** where he preached about Jesus and many people were saved.

translationWords send, send out, sent

send, send out, sent

Definition:

To "send" is to cause someone or something to go somewhere. To "send out" someone is to tell that person to go on an errand or a mission.

- Often a person who is "sent out" has been appointed to do a specific task.
- Phrases like "send rain" or "send disaster" mean "to cause...to come." This type of expression is usually used in reference to God causing these things to happen.
- The term "send" is also used in expressions such as "send word" or "send a message" which means to give someone a message to tell someone else.
- To "send" someone "with" something can mean to "give" that thing "to" someone else, usually moving it some distance in order for the person to receive it.
- Jesus frequently uses the phrase "the one who sent me" to refer to God the Father who "sent" him to earth to redeem and save people. This could also be translated as, "commissioned me" or "caused me to come" or "appointed me to go."

(See also: appoint, appointed, redeem, redemption, redeemer)

Bible References:

shame, shameful, ashamed

Definition:

The term "shame" refers to a painful feeling of being disgraced a person has because of something dishonorable or improper that he or someone else has done.

- Something that is "shameful" is "improper" or "dishonorable."
- The term "ashamed" describes how a person feels when he has done something shameful.
- The phrase "put to shame" means to defeat people or expose their sin so that they feel ashamed of themselves.
- The prophet Isaiah said that those who make and worship idols will be put to shame.
- God can bring shame to a person who does not repent, by exposing that person's sin and causing him to be humiliated.

(See also: false god, foreign god, god, goddess, humble, humility, humiliate, humiliation, Isaiah, repent, repentance, sin, sinful, sinner, sinning, worship)

Bible References:

translationWords slaughter

slaughter

Definition:

The term "slaughter" refers to killing a large number of animals or people, or to killing in a violent way. It can also refer to killing an animal for the purpose of eating it.

- When Abraham received three visitors at his tent in the desert, he ordered his servants to slaughter and cook a calf for his guests.
- The prophet Ezekiel prophesied that God would send his angel to slaughter all those who would not follow His word.
- 1 Samuel records a great slaughter where 30,000 Israelites were killed by their enemies. because of disobedience to God.
- "Weapons of slaughter" could be translated as "weapons for killing."
- The expression, "the slaughter was very great" could also be translated as "a large number were killed" or "the number of deaths was very great" or "a terribly high number of people died."
- Other ways to translate "slaughter" could include, "kill" or "slay" or "killing."

(See also: angel, archangel, cow, calf, bull, cattle, disobey, disobedient, disobedience, Ezekiel, servant, slave, slavery, slay, slain)

Bible References:

thief, thieves, robber

Facts:

The terms "thief" and "thieves" refer in general to people who steal money or property from other people. The term "robber" often refers to a thief who also physically harms or threatens the people he is stealing from.

- Jesus told a parable about a Samaritan man who took care of a man who had been attacked by robbers. The robbers had beaten the man and wounded him before stealing his money and clothing.
- Both thieves and robbers come suddenly to steal, when people are not expecting it. Often they use the cover of darkness to hide what they are doing.
- In a figurative sense, the New Testament describes Satan as a thief who comes to steal, kill, and destroy. This means that Satan's plan is to try to get God's people to stop obeying him, stealing from them the good things God has planned for them to experience.
- Jesus compared the suddenness of his return to the suddenness of a thief coming to steal from people. Just as a thief comes at a time when people are not expecting it, so Jesus will return at a time when people do not expect it.

(See also: bless, blessed, blessing, crime, criminal, crucify, darkness,destroyer, power, powers, Samaria, Samaritan, Satan, devil, evil one)

Bible References:

translationWords vision

vision

Facts:

The term "vision" refers to something that a person sees. It especially refers to something unusual or supernatural that God shows people in order to give them a message.

• Usually, visions are seen while the person is awake. However sometimes a vision is something a person sees in a dream while asleep.

• God sends visions to tell people something that is very important. For example, Peter was shown a vision to tell him that God wanted him to welcome Gentiles.

Translation Suggestion

- The phrase "saw a vision" could be translated as, "saw something unusual from God" or "God showed him something special."
- Some languages may not have separate words for "vision" and "dream." So a sentence such as, "Daniel had dreams and visions in his mind" could be translated as something like, "Daniel was dreaming while asleep and God caused him to see unusual things."

(See also: dream)

Bible References:

wise, wisdom translationWords

wise, wisdom

Definition:

The term "wise" describes someone who understands what is the right and moral thing to do and then does that. "Wisdom" is the understanding and practice of what is true and morally right.

- Being wise includes the ability to make good decisions, especially choosing to do what pleases God.
- In the Bible, the term "worldly wisdom" is a figurative way of referring to what people in this world think is wise, but which is actually foolish.
- People become wise by listening to God and humbly obeying his will.
- A wise person will show the fruits of the Holy Spirit in his life, such as joy, kindness, love and patience.

Translation Suggestions:

- Depending on the context, other ways to translate "wise" could include, "obedient to God" or "sensible and obedient" or "God-fearing."
- "Wisdom" could be translated by a word or phrase that means, "wise living" or "sensible and obedient living" or "good judgment."
- It is best to translate "wise" and "wisdom" in such a way that they are different terms from other key terms like righteous or obedient.

(See: obey, obedient, obedience, fruit, fruitful)

Bible References:

Waiting

Examples from the Bible stories:

- [02-05] She also wanted to be wise, so she picked some of the fruit and ate it.
- [18-01] When Solomon asked for **wisdom**, God was pleased and made him the **wisest** man in the world.
- [23-09] Some time later, wise men from countries far to the east saw an unusual star in the sky.
- [45-01] He (Stephen) had a good reputation and was full of the Holy Spirit and of wisdom.

works, deeds, work, acts

Definition:

In the Bible, the terms "works," "deeds," and "acts" are used to refer generally to things that God or people do.

- The term "work" refers to doing labor or anything that is done to serve other people.
- God's "works" and the "work of his hands" are expressions that refer to all the things he does or has done, including creating the world, saving sinners, providing for the needs of all creation and keeping the entire universe in place. The terms "deeds" and "acts" are also used to refer to God's miracles in expressions such as, "mighty acts" or "marvelous deeds."
- The works or deeds that a person does can be either good or evil.
- The Holy Spirit empowers believers to do good works, which are also called "good fruit."
- People are not saved by their good works; they are saved through faith in Jesus.
- A person's "work" can be what he does to earn a living or to serve God. The Bible also refers to God as "working."

Translation Suggestions:

- Other ways to translate "works" or "deeds" could be, "actions" or "things that are done."
- When referring to God's "works" or "deeds" and the "work of his hands," these expressions could also be translated as, "miracles" or "mighty acts" or "amazing things he does."
- The expression, "the work of God" could be translated as, "the things that God is doing" or "the miracles God does" or "the amazing things that God does" or "everything God has accomplished."
- The term "work" can just be the singular of "works" as in, "every good work" or "every good deed."
- The term "work" can also have the broader meaning of "service" or "ministry." For example, the expression, "your work in the Lord" could also be translated as, "what you do for the Lord."
- The expression, "examine your own work" could also be translated as, "make sure what you are doing is God's will" or "make sure that what you are doing pleases God."
- The expression "the work of the Holy Spirit" could be translated as, "the empowering of the Holy Spirit" or "the ministry of the Holy Spirit" or "the things that the Holy Spirit does."

(See: fruit, fruitful, Holy Spirit, Spirit of God, Spirit of the Lord, miracle, wonder, sign)

Bible References:

Yahweh translationWords

Yahweh

Facts:

The term "Yahweh" is God's personal name that he revealed when he spoke to Moses at the burning bush.

- The name "Yahweh" comes from the word that means, "to be" or "to exist."
- Possible meanings of "Yahweh" include, "he is" or "I am" or "the one who causes to be."
- This name reveals that God has always lived and will continue to live forever. It also means that he is always present.
- Following tradition, many Bible versions use the term "LORD" or "the LORD" to represent "Yahweh." This tradition resulted from the fact that historically, the Jewish people became afraid of mispronouncing Yahweh's name and started saying "Lord" every time the term "Yahweh" appeared in the text. Modern Bibles write "LORD" with all capital letters to show respect for God's personal name and to distinguish it from "Lord" which is a different Hebrew word.
- The ULB and UDB texts always translate this term as, "Yahweh," as it literally occurs in the Hebrew text of the Old Testament.
- The term "Yahweh" does not ever occur in the original text of the New Testament; only the Greek term for "Lord" is used, even in quotes from the Old Testament.

Translation Suggestions:

- "Yahweh" could be translated by a word or phrase that means "I am" or "living one" or "the one who is" or "he who is alive."
- This term could also be written in a way that is similar to how "Yahweh" is spelled.
- Some church denominations prefer not to use the term "Yahweh" and instead use the traditional rendering, "LORD." An important consideration is that this may be confusing when read aloud because it will sound the same as the title "Lord." Some languages may have an affix or other grammatical marker that could be added to distinguish "LORD" as a name (Yahweh) from "Lord" as a title.

(Translation suggestions: How to Translate Names)

(See also: God, lord, master, sir, Lord, Moses, reveal, revelation)

Bible References:

Waiting

Examples from the Bible stories:

• [09-14] God said, "I AM WHO I AM. Tell them, 'I AM has sent me to you.' Also tell them, 'I am Yahweh, the God of your ancestors Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob. This is my name forever.'"

translationWords Yahweh

• [13-04] Then God gave them the covenant and said, "I am Yahweh, your God, who saved you from slavery in Egypt. Do not worship other gods."

- [13-05]"Do not make idols or worship them, for I, Yahweh, am a jealous God."
- [16-01] The Israelites began to worship the Canaanite gods instead of Yahweh, the true God.
- [19-10] Then Elijah prayed, "O Yahweh, God of Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob, show us today that you are the God of Israel and that I am your servant."

Zion, Mount Zion translationWords

Zion, Mount Zion

Definition:

Originally, the term "Zion" or "Mount Zion" referred to a stronghold or fortress that King David captured from the Jebusites. Both these terms became other ways of referring to Jerusalem.

- Mount Zion and Mount Moriah were two of the hills that the city of Jerusalem was located on. Later, "Zion" and "Mount Zion" became used as general terms to refer to both of these mountains and to the city of Jerusalem. Sometimes they also referred to the temple that was located in Jerusalem. (See: Metonymy)
- David named Zion, or Jerusalem, the "City of David." This is different from David's hometown, Bethlehem, which was also called the City of David.
- The term "Zion" is used in other figurative ways, to refer to Israel or to God's spiritual kingdom or to the new, heavenly Jerusalem that God will create.

(See also: Abraham, Abram, David, Jerusalem, Bethlehem, Ephrathah, Jebusites, Jebus)

Bible References:

translationAcademy Active or Passive

translationAcademy

Active or Passive

This answers the question: What do active and passive mean, and how do I translate passive sentences?

In order to understand this topic, it would be good to read:

- Sentence Structure
- Verbs

Some languages have both active and passive sentences. In active sentences, the subject does the action. In passive sentences the subject is the one that the action is done to. Here are some examples with their subjects underlined:

- ACTIVE: *My father* built the house in 2010.
- PASSIVE: The house was built in 2010.

Translators whose languages do not have passive sentences will need to know how they can translate passive sentences that they find in the Bible. Other translators will need to decide when to use a passive sentence and when not to.

Description

Some languages have both active and passive forms of sentences.

- In the **ACTIVE** form, the subject does the action and is always mentioned.
- In the **PASSIVE** form, the action is done to the subject and the one who does the action is *not always* mentioned.

In the examples of active and passive sentences below, we have underlined the subject.

ACTIVE: *My father* built the house in 2010.

PASSIVE: *The house* was built by my father in 2010.

PASSIVE: The house was built in 2010. (This does not tell who did the action.)

All languages have active forms. Some languages have passive forms, and some do not. The passive form is not used for the same reasons in all of the languages that have it.

Purposes for the passive:

- The speaker is talking about the person or thing the action was done to, not about the person who did the action.
- The speaker does not want to tell who did the action.
- The speaker does not know who did the action.

Translation Principles Regarding the Passive

- Translators whose language does not use passive forms will need to find another way to express the idea.
- Translators whose language has passive forms will need to understand why the passive is used in a particular sentence in the Bible and decide whether or not to use a passive form for that purpose in his translation of the sentence.

Examples from the Bible

And their shooters shot at your soldiers from off the wall, and some of the king's servants *were killed*, and your servant Uriah the Hittite *was killed* too. (2 Samuel 11:24 ULB)

This means that the enemies shooters shot and killed some of the king's servants, including Uriah. The point is what happened to the king's servants and Uriah, not who shot them.

In the morning when the men of the town got up, the altar of Baal *was broken down* ... (Judges 6:28 ULB)

The men of the town saw what had happened to the altar of Baal, but they did not know who broke it down.

No stonework was seen there. (1 Kings 6:18 ULB)

This means that no one saw stonework there. The point is that no stonework was done there.

Translation Strategies

If you decide that it is better to translate without a passive form, here are some strategies you might consider.

- 1. Use the same verb in an active sentence and tell who or what did the action.
- 2. Use the same verb in an active sentence, and do not tell who or what did the action.
- 3. Use a different verb.

Examples of Translation Strategies Applied

- 1. Use the same verb in an active sentence and tell who did the action.
 - A loaf of bread was given him every day from the street of the bakers. (Jeremiah 37:21 ULB)
 - o *The king's servants gave* Jeremiah a loaf of bread every day from the street of the bakers.
- 2. Use the same verb in an active sentence, and do not tell who did the action. Instead use a generic expression like "they," or "people," or "someone."

translationAcademy Active or Passive

• It would be better for him if a millstone were put around his neck and he were thrown into the sea (Luke 17:2 ULB)

- It would be better for him if *they were to put* a millstone around his neck and *throw* him into the sea.
- It would be better for him if *someone were to put* a heavy stone around his neck and *throw* him into the sea.
- 3. Use a different verb in an active sentence.
 - A loaf of bread was given him every day from the street of the bakers. (Jeremiah 37:21 ULB)
 - He *received* a loaf of bread every day from the street of the bakers.

Next we recommend you learn about:

- Abstract Nouns
- Word Order

Assumed Knowledge and Implicit Information

This answers the question: What are assumed knowledge, implicit information, and explicit information?

Assumed knowledge is whatever a speaker assumes his audience knows before he speaks and gives them some kind of information. There are two types information.

- **Explicit information** is what the speaker states directly.
- **Implicit information** is what the speaker does not state directly because he expects his audience to be able to learn it from what he says.

Description

When someone speaks or writes, he has something specific that he wants people to know. He normally states this directly. This is **explicit information**.

The speaker assumes that his audience already knows certain things that they will think about in order to understand this information. Normally he does not tell people these things, although what he says may remind them. This is called **assumed knowledge**.

The speaker does not always directly state everything that he expects his audience to learn from what he says. Information that he expects people to learn from what he says even though he does not state it directly is **implicit information**.

Examples from the Bible

Then a scribe came to him and said, "Teacher, I will follow you wherever you go." Jesus said to him, "Foxes *have holes*, and the birds of the sky *have nests*, but the Son of Man has nowhere to lay his head." (Matthew 8:20 ULB)

Jesus did not say what foxes and birds use holes and nests for, because he assumed that the scribe would have known that foxes sleep in holes in the ground and birds sleep in their nests. This is **assumed knowledge**. Jesus did not directly say here "I am the Son of Man" but, if the scribe did not already know it, then that fact would be **implicit information** that he could learn because Jesus referred to himself that way. Jesus did not state explicitly that he travelled a lot and did not have a house that he slept in every night. That is **implicit information** that the scribe could learn when Jesus said that he had nowhere to lay his head.

Woe to you, Chorazin! Woe to you, Bethsaida! If the mighty deeds had been done in Tyre and Sidon which were done in you, they would have repented long ago in sackcloth and ashes. But it will be more tolerable for Tyre and Sidon at the day of judgment than for you. (Matthew 11:21, 22 ULB)

Jesus assumed that the people he was speaking to knew that Tyre and Sidon were very wicked, and that the day of judgment is a time when God will judge every person. Jesus also knew that the

people he was talking to believed that they were good and did not need to repent. Jesus did not need to tell them these things. This is all **assumed knowledge**.

An important piece of **implicit information** here is that because the people he was speaking to did not repent, they would be judged more severely than the people of Tyre and Sidon would be judged.

Why do your disciples violate the traditions of the elders? For they do not wash their hands when they eat. (Matthew 15:2 ULB)

One of the traditions of the elders was a ceremony in which people would wash their hands in order to be ritually clean before eating. People thought that in order to be righteous, they had to follow all the traditions of the elders. This was **assumed knowledge** that the Pharisees who were speaking to Jesus expected him to know. They were accusing his disciples of not following the traditions. This is **implicit information** that they wanted him to understand from what they said.

Next we recommend you learn about:

• Making Assumed Knowledge and Implicit Information Explicit

Hyperbole

This answers the question: What is hyperbole?

In order to understand this topic, it would be good to read:

• Figures of Speech

Hyperbole is a figure of speech in which the speaker shows that something is very important by describing it as larger or greater than it really is. He may greatly exaggerate something in order to show his strong feeling or opinion about it, or he may generalize the situation by using words like "every" or "all" to mean "many."

Description

Hyperbole is a figure of speech in which the speaker shows that something is very important by describing it as larger or greater than it really is. There are two kinds of hyperbole:

1. Exaggeration: This is when a speaker deliberately describes something by an extreme or even unreal statement, usually to show his strong feeling or opinion about it.

Whoever does not *carry his own cross* and come after me cannot be my disciple. (Luke 14:27 ULB) - This is an exaggeration. It means that whoever wants to be Jesus' disciple must be determined to follow him faithfully, even if his enemies were to kill that person.

2. Generalization: This is when a speaker uses words like "every" or "all" to mean something like "very many," but not "every one." (Some people may not call generalization like this "hyperbole.")

Moses was educated in *all the learning of the Egyptians* (Acts 7:22 ULB) - This is a generalization. It means that he had learned much of what the Egyptians knew and taught.

Reason this is a translation issue

If readers do not understand that a statement is a hyperbole, they may either think that something happened that did not happen, or they may think that the speaker or writer was saying something that is not true.

Examples from the Bible

Examples of Exaggeration

If your hand causes you to stumble, *cut it off*. It is better for you to enter into life maimed... (Mark 9:43 ULB)

translationAcademy Hyperbole

When Jesus said to cut off your hand, he meant that we should do whatever extreme things we need to do in order not to sin. He used this hyperbole to show how extremely important it is to try to stop sinning.

If anyone comes to me and does not *hate* his own father, mother, wife, children, brothers and sisters—yes, and his own life also—he cannot be my disciple. (Luke 14:26 ULB)

Because of many other things that Jesus said, we know that his use of the word "hate" here is hyperbole. He meant that we must not love even our own family members more than we love him. We must love him more than we love ourselves or anyone else.

The Philistines gathered together to fight against Israel: thirty thousand chariots, six thousand men to drive the chariots, and troops *as numerous as the sand on the seashore*. (1 Samuel 13:5 ULB)

The underlined phrase is an exaggeration. It means that there were many, many soldiers in the Philistine army.

Examples of Generalization

They found him, and they said to him, "Everyone is looking for you." (Mark 1:37 ULB)

The disciples told Jesus that everyone was looking looking for him. They probably did not mean that everyone in the city was looking for him, but that many people were looking for him, or that all of Jesus closest friends there were looking for him.

But as his anointing teaches you about *all things* and is true and is not a lie, and even as it has taught you, remain in him. (1 John 2:27 ULB)

This is a generalization. God's Spirit teaches us about all things that we need to know.

Caution

Do not assume that something is hyperbole just because it seems to be impossible. God does miraculous things.

... they saw Jesus walking on the sea and coming near the boat ... (John 6:19 ULB)

This is not hyperbole. Jesus really walked on the water. It is a literal statement.

... for all have sinned and come short of the glory of God. (Romans 3:23 ULB)

The word "all" here is not hyperbole. All humans have sinned. The only human who has never sinned is Jesus Christ, the Son of God.

Translation Strategies

If the hyperbole would be natural and people would understand it and not think that it is a lie, consider using it. If not, here is another option.

1. Express the meaning without the hyperbole. For example "all the people" could be translated as "large crowds of people."

Examples of Translation Strategies Applied

- 1. Express the meaning without the hyperbole.
 - If anyone comes to me and does not *hate* his own father, mother, wife, children, brothers and sisters—yes, and his own life also—he cannot be my disciple. (Luke 14:26 ULB)
 - "If anyone comes to me and does not *love me much more than* he loves his own father, mother, wife, children, brothers and sisters—yes, and his own life also—he cannot be my disciple."
 - The Philistines gathered together to fight against Israel: thirty thousand chariots, six thousand men to drive the chariots, and troops as numerous as the sand on the seashore. (1 Samuel 13:5 ULB)
 - o "The Philistines gathered together to fight against Israel: thirty thousand chariots, six thousand men to drive the chariots, and *a great number of troops.*"

translationAcademy Idiom

Idiom

This answers the question: What are idioms and how can I translate them?

In order to understand this topic, it would be good to read:

• Figures of Speech

An idiom is a certain kind of figure of speech, the kind that usually cannot be correctly understood without being told its true meaning. Every language has them. Some English examples are:

- You are pulling my leg (This means, "You are telling me a lie")
- Do not push the envelope (This means, "Do not take a matter to its extreme")
- This house is under water (This means, "The debt owed for this house is greater than its actual value")
- We are painting the town red (This means, "We are going around town tonight celebrating very intensely")

Description

An idiom is a phrase that has a special meaning to the people of the language or culture that uses it. Its meaning may be different from what a person would understand from the meanings of the individual words that form the phrase.

he resolutely set his face to go to Jerusalem. (Luke 9:51 ULB)

The words "set his face" is an idiom that means "decided."

Sometimes people may be able to understand an idiom from another culture, but it might sound like a strange way to express the meaning.

I am not worthy that you should enter under my roof. (Luke 7:6 ULB)

The words "enter under my roof" is an idiom that means "enter my house."

Let these words go deeply into your ears (Luke 9:44 ULB)

This idiom means "Listen carefully and remember what I say."

Purpose: An idiom is created in a culture probably somewhat by accident when someone describes something in an unusual way. But, when that unusual way communicates the message powerfully and people understand it clearly, other people start to use it.

Reasons this is a translation issue

- People can easily misunderstand idioms in the original languages of the Bible if they do not know the cultures that originally wrote the Bible.
- People can easily misunderstand idioms that are in the source language Bibles if they do not know the cultures that made those translations.

Examples from the Bible

"Then all Israel came to David at Hebron and said, "Look, we are your flesh and bone." (1 Chronicles 11:1 ULB)

This means, "We and you belong to the same race, the same family."

The kings of the earth take their stand together (Psalm 2:2 ULB)

This means, "The kings on earth plan together."

the one who lifts up my head" (Psalm 3:3 ULB)

This means, "the one who helps me."

Translation Strategies

If the idiom would be clearly understood in your language, consider using it. If not, here are some other options.

- 1. Translate the meaning plainly without using an idiom.
- 2. Use a different idiom that people use in your own language that has the same meaning.

Examples of Translation Strategies Applied

- 1. Translate the meaning plainly without using an idiom.
 - Then all Israel came to David at Hebron and said, "Look, we are your flesh and bone." (1 Chronicles 11:1 ULB)
 - o "...Look, we all belong to the same nation."
 - he resolutely set his face to go to Jerusalem. (Luke 9:51 ULB)
 - o "He started to travel to Jerusalem, determined to reach it."
 - I am not worthy that you should enter under my roof. (Luke 7:6 ULB)
 - o "I am not worthy that you should enter my house."
- 2. Use an idiom that people use in your own language that has the same meaning.
 - Let these words go deeply into your ears (Luke 9:44 ULB)
 - o "Be all ears when I say these words to you."
 - "My eyes grow dim from grief (Psalm 6:7ULB)
 - o "I am crying my eyes out"

translationAcademy Metaphor

Metaphor

This answers the question: What is a metaphor and how can I translate a sentence that has one? In order to understand this topic, it would be good to read:

- Figures of Speech
- Simile

Description

A metaphor is the use of words to speak of one thing as if it were a different thing. Sometimes a speaker does this in ways that are very common in the language. At other times, a speaker does this in ways that are less common in the language and that might even be unique.

1. First we will discuss very common metaphors.

The metaphors that are very common in a language are usually not very vivid. They may even be "dead." Examples in English are "table leg," "family tree," and "the price of food is going up." Examples in biblical languages are "hand" to mean "power," "face" to mean "presence," and "clothing" to mean emotions or moral qualities.

Metaphors like these are in constant use in the world's languages, because they serve as convenient ways to organize thought. In general, languages speak of abstract qualities, such as power, presence, emotions, and moral qualities, as if they were objects that can be seen or held, or as if they were body parts, or as if they were events that you can watch happen.

When these metaphors are used in their normal ways, the speaker and audience do not normally even regard them as figurative language. This is why, for example, it would be wrong to translate the English expression, "The price of petrol is going up" into another language in a way that would draw undeserved attention to it, because English speakers do not view it as a vivid expression, that is, as an unusual expression that carries meaning in an unusual manner.

For a description of important patterns of this kind of metaphor, please see Biblical Imagery - Common Patterns and the pages it will direct you to.

2. Next we will discuss the less common metaphors, metaphors that are sometimes even unique in a language.

The speaker usually produces metaphors of this kind in order to emphasize the importance of what he is talking about. For example,

For you who fear my name, the sun of righteousness will rise with healing in its wings. (Malachi 4:2 ULB)

Here God speaks about his salvation as if it were the sun rising to shine its rays on the people whom he loves. And he speaks of the sun's rays as if they were wings. Also, he speaks of these wings as if they were bringing medicine that would heal his people.

We call this kind of metaphor "live." It is unique in the biblical languages, which means that it is very memorable.

Parts of a Metaphor

When talking about metaphors, it can be helpful to talk about their parts. The thing someone speaks of is called the **topic**. The thing he calls it is the **image**. The way that they are similar is the **point of comparison**.

In the metaphor below, the speaker describes the woman he loves as a rose. The woman (his "love") is the topic and the red rose is the image. Both are beautiful and delicate.

- My love is a red, red rose.
- 1. Sometimes the **topic** and the **image** are both stated clearly.

Jesus said to them. "I am the bread of life. He who comes to me will not hunger, and he who believes on me will never thirst." (John 6:35 ULB)

Jesus called himself the bread of life. The topic is "I" and the image is "bread." Bread is a food that people ate all the time. Just as people need to eat food in order to have physical life, people need to trust in Jesus in order to have spiritual life.

2. Sometimes only the **image** is stated clearly.

Produce *fruits* that are worthy of repentance (Luke 3:8 ULB)

The image here is "fruits". The topic is not stated, but it is actions or behavior. Trees can produce good fruit or bad fruit, and people can produce good behavior or bad behavior. Fruits that are worthy of repentance are good behavior that is appropriate for people who have repented.

Purposes of this second kind of metaphor

- One purpose of metaphor is to teach people about something that they do not know (the **topic**) by showing that it is like something that they already know (the **image**).
- Another purpose is to emphasize that something has a particular quality or to show that it has that quality in an extreme way.
- Another purpose is to lead people to feel the same way about one thing as they would feel toward another.

Reasons this is a translation issue

- People may not realize that a word is being used as an image in a metaphor.
- People may not be familiar with the thing that is used as an image.
- If the topic is not stated, people may not know what the topic is.
- People may not know how the topic and the image are alike.

Translation Principles

• Make the meaning of a metaphor as clear to the target audience as it was to the original audience.

translationAcademy Metaphor

• Do not make the meaning of a metaphor more clear to the target audience than it was to the original audience.

Examples from the Bible

And yet, Yahweh, you are our father; we are the *clay*. You are our *potter*; and we all are the work of your hand. (Isaiah 64:8 ULB)

The example above has two metaphors. The topics are "we" and "you" and the images are "clay and "potter." Just as a potter takes clay and forms a jar or dish out of it, God makes us into what he wants us to be.

Jesus said to them, "Take heed and beware of *the yeast of the Pharisees and Sadducees.*" The disciples reasoned among themselves and said, "It is because we took no bread." (Matthew 16:6-7 ULB)

Jesus used a metaphor, but his disciples did not realize it. When he said "yeast," they thought he was talking about bread, but "yeast" was the image in his metaphor about the teaching of the Pharisees and Sadducees. Since the disciples did not understand what Jesus meant, it would not be good to state clearly here what Jesus meant.

Translation Strategies

If people would understand the metaphor in the same way that the original readers would have understood it, go ahead and use it. If not, here are some other strategies.

- 1. If the metaphor is common and seems to be a normal way to say something in the biblical language, express the main idea in the simplest way preferred by your language.
- 2. If the target audience would think that the phrase should be understood literally, change the metaphor to a simile. Some languages do this by adding words such as "like" or "as."
- 3. If the target audience would not know the **image**, see **Translate Unknowns** for ideas on how to translate that image.
- 4. If the target audience would not use that **image** for that meaning, use an image from your own culture instead. Be sure that it is an image that could have been possible in Bible times.
- 5. Or, if the target audience would not use that **image** for that meaning, simply state the truth that the metaphor was used to communicate.
- 6. If the target audience would not know what the **topic** is, then state the topic clearly. (However, do not do this if the original audience did not know what the topic was.)
- 7. If the target audience would not know how the topic is like the image, state it clearly.

Examples of Translation Strategies Applied

1. If the metaphor is common and seems to be a normal way to say something in the biblical language, express the main idea in the simplest way preferred by your language.

- For after David had in his own generation served the desires of God, he fell asleep, was laid with his fathers, and saw decay, (Acts 13:36 ULB)
 - o "For after David had in his own generation served the desires of God, *he died*, was laid with his fathers, and saw decay,"
- 2. If the target audience would think that the phrase should be understood literally, change the metaphor to a simile. Some languages do this by adding "like" or "as."
 - And yet, Yahweh, you are our father; we are the *clay*. You are our *potter*; and we all are the work of your hand. (Isaiah 64:8 ULB)
 - o "And yet, Yahweh, you are our father; we are *like* clay. You are *like* a potter; and we all are the work of your hand."
- 3. If the target audience would not know the **image**, see Translate Unknowns for ideas on how to translate that image.
 - Saul, Saul, why do you persecute me? It is hard for you to kick a goad. (Acts 26:14 ULB)
 - o "Saul, Saul, why do you persecute me? It is hard for you to kick against a pointed stick."
- 4. If the target audience would not use that **image** for that meaning, use an image from your own culture instead. Be sure that it is an image that could have been possible in Bible times.
 - And yet, Yahweh, you are our father; we are the *clay*. You are our *potter*; and we all are the work of your hand. (Isaiah 64:8 ULB)
 - o "And yet, Yahweh, you are our father; we are the *wood*. You are our *carver*; and we all are the work of your hand."
 - o "And yet, Yahweh, you are our father; we are the *string*. You are the *weaver*; and we all are the work of your hand."
- 5. Or, if the target audience would not use that **image** for that meaning, simply state the truth that the metaphor was used to communicate.
 - I will make you become fishers of men. (Mark 1:17 ULB)
 - o "I will make you become people who gather men."
 - o "Now you gather fish. I will make you gather people."
- 6. If the target audience would not know what the **topic** is, then state the topic clearly. (However, do not do this if the original audience did not know what the topic was.)
 - Yahweh lives; may my rock be praised. May the God of my salvation be exalted. (Psalm 18:46 ULB)
 - o "Yahweh lives; *He is my rock*. May he be praised. May the God of my salvation be exalted.
- 7. If the target audience would not know how the topic is like the image, state it clearly.

translationAcademy Metaphor

• Yahweh lives; may my rock be praised. May the God of my salvation be exalted. (Psalm 18:46 ULB)

- o "Yahweh lives; may he be praised because like a huge rock, he shields me from my enemies. May the God of my salvation be exalted."
- Saul, Saul, why do you persecute me? It is hard for you to kick a goad. (Acts 26:14 ULB)
 - o "Saul, Saul, why do you persecute me? You *fight against me and hurt yourself* like an ox that kicks against its owner's pointed stick."

To learn more about common metaphors read:

• Biblical Imagery - Common Patterns

Metonymy

This answers the question: What is a metonymy?

In order to understand this topic, it would be good to read:

• Figures of Speech

Many times the Bible uses metonymy. If you do not recognize it as a metonymy you will not understand the passage or worse yet, get the wrong understanding of the passage.

Description

Metonymy is a figure of speech in which a thing or idea is called not by its own name, but by the name of something closely associated with it. A **metonym** is a word or phrase used as a substitute for something it is associated with.

and the blood of Jesus his Son cleanses us from all sin. (1 John 1:7 ULB)

The blood represents Christ's death.

He took the cup in the same way after supper, saying, "This cup is the new covenant in my blood, which is poured out for you. (Luke 22:20 ULB)

The cup represents the wine that is in the cup.

Metonymy can be used

- as a shorter way of referring to something
- to make an abstract idea more meaningful by referring to it with the name of a concrete object associated with it.

Reason this is a translation issue

• If a metonym is used, people need to be able to understand what it represents.

Examples from the Bible

The Lord God will give him *the throne* of his father, David. (Luke 1:32 ULB)

A throne represents the authority of a king. Throne is a metonym for "kingly authority," "kingship" or, "reign." This means that God would make him become the king who was to follow King David.

Immediately his mouth was opened (Luke 1:64 ULB)

The mouth here represents the power to speak. This means that he was able to talk again.

translationAcademy Metonymy

who warned you to flee from the wrath that is coming? (Luke 3:7 ULB)

The word "wrath" or "anger" is a metonym for "punishment." God was extremely angry with the people and, as a result, he would punish them.

Translation Strategies

If people would easily understand the metonym, consider using it. Otherwise, here is an option.

- 1. Use the metonym along with the name of the thing it represents.
- 2. Use the name of the thing the metonym represents.

Examples of Translation Strategies Applied

- 1. Use the metonym along with the name of the thing it represents.
 - He took the cup in the same way after supper, saying, "This cup is the new covenant in my blood, which is poured out for you. (Luke 22:20 ULB)
 - o "He took the cup in the same way after supper, saying," *The wine in this cup* is the new covenant in my blood, which is poured out for you."
- 2. Use the name of the thing the metonym represents.
 - The Lord God will give him the throne of his father, David. (Luke 1:32 ULB)
 - o "The Lord God will give him the kingly authority of his father, David."
 - o "The Lord God will *make him king* like his ancestor, King David."
 - who warned you to flee from the wrath to come? (Luke 3:7 ULB)
 - o "who warned you to flee from God's coming punishment?"

To learn about some common metonymies, we suggest you read:

• Biblical Imagery - Common Metonymies

Parallelism

This answers the question: What is parallelism?

In order to understand this topic, it would be good to read:

• Figures of Speech

Description

In **parallism** two phrases or clauses that are similar in structure or idea are used together. There are different kinds of parallelism. Some of them are the following:

- 1. The second clause or phrase means the same as the first.
- 2. The second clarifies or strengthens the meaning of the first.
- 3. The second completes what is said in the first.
- 4. The second says something that contrasts with the first.

Parallelism is most commonly found in Old Testament poetry, such as in the books of Psalms and Proverbs. It also occurs in Greek in the New Testament, both in the four gospels and in the apostles' letters.

Reason this is a translation issue

Some languages would not use the kind of parallelism in which the two phrases mean the same thing. They would either think it odd that someone said the same thing twice, or they think that the two phrases must have some difference in meaning.

Examples from the Bible

1. The second clause or phrase means the same as the first.

You make him to rule over the works of your hands; you have put all things under his feet (Psalm 8:6 ULB)

Both lines say that God made man the ruler of everything.

2. The second clarifies or strengthens the meaning of the first.

The eyes of Yahweh are everywhere, keeping watch over the evil and the good. (Proverbs 15:3 ULB)

The second line tells more specifically what Yahweh watches.

3. The second completes what is said in the first.

I lift up my voice to Yahweh, and he answers me from his holy hill. (Psalm 3:4 ULB) translationAcademy Parallelism

The second line tells what Yahweh does in response to what the person does in the first clause.

4. The second says something that contrasts with the first.

For Yahweh approves of the way of the righteous, but the way of the wicked will perish. (Psalm 1:6 ULB)

This contrasts what happens to righteous people with what happens to wicked people.

A gentle answer turns away wrath, but a harsh word stirs up anger. (Proverbs 15:1 ULB)

This contrasts what happens when someone gives a gentle answer with what happens when someone says something harsh.

Translation Strategies

- 1. For most kinds of parallelism, it is good to translate both of the clauses or phrases.
- 2. When the two clauses or phrases mean the same thing, some languages would not translate them both. (See Parallelism with the Same Meaning)

Examples of Translation Strategies Applied

(See Parallelism with the Same Meaning)

Next we recommend you learn about:

• Parallelism with the Same Meaning

Rhetorical Question

This answers the question: What are rhetorical questions and how can I translate them? In order to understand this topic, it would be good to read:

- Figures of Speech
- Sentences

A rhetorical question is a question to which the speaker does not expect an answer because he is not looking for information. Speakers use rhetorical questions to express deep emotion or to encourage hearers to think deeply about something. The Bible contains many rhetorical questions, often to express sarcasm or to rebuke or scold the hearer. Speakers of some languages use rhetorical questions for other reasons as well.

Description

A rhetorical question is a question to which the speaker does not expect an answer because he is not looking for information. Speakers often use rhetorical questions to rebuke or scold people.

Those who stood by said, *Is this how you insult God's high priest?*" (Acts 23:4 ULB) The people did not ask this question in order to get information. Rather they used it to scold Paul because they did not think he should have spoken as he did to the high priest.

The Bible contains many rhetorical questions. Some of the purposes of these rhetorical questions are to remind people of something that they already know, to express strong emotion, to say something in a strong way, or to introduce something they want to talk about.

Reasons this is a translation issue

- Some readers may think that a question is a request for information.
- Some languages use rhetorical questions only for scolding.
- Some readers might think that the purpose of a question is something other than what it really is.

Examples from the Bible

Do you not still rule the kingdom of Israel? (1 Kings 21:7 ULB)

Jezebel used the question above to remind King Ahab of something he already knew: he still ruled the kingdom of Israel. She did this in order to rebuke him for being unwilling to take over a poor man's property. She was implying that since he was the king of Israel he should feel free to take the man's property.

Will a virgin forget her jewelry, a bride her veils? Yet my people have forgotten me for days without number! (Jeremiah 2:32 ULB)

God used the question above to remind his people of something they already knew: a women would never forget her jewelry and veils. He then rebuked his people for forgetting him, who is so much greater than those things.

Why did I not die when I came out from the womb? (Job 3:11 ULB)

Job used the question above to show how sad he was that he did not die as soon as he was born. He wished that he had not lived.

And why has it happened to me that the mother of my Lord should come to me? (Luke 1:43 ULB)

Elizabeth used the question above to show how surprised and happy she was that the mother of her Lord came to her.

Or what man among you is there who, if his son asks him for a loaf of bread, will give him a stone? (Matthew 7:9 ULB)

Jesus used the question above to remind the people of something they already knew: a good father would never give his son something bad to eat.

Therefore, if you who are evil know how to give good gifts to your children, how much more will your Father from heaven give good things to those who ask him? (Matthew 7:11 ULB)

Jesus used this question to teach the people in an emphatic way that God gives good things to those who ask him.

What is the kingdom of God like, and what can I compare it to? It is like a mustard seed which a man took and threw into his garden... (Luke 13:18-19 ULB)

Jesus used the question above to introduce what he was going to talk about. He was going to compare the kingdom of God to something.

Translation Strategies

Be sure you know that you are dealing with a rhetorical question and not an information question. Then be sure you know what the purpose of the rhetorical question is. Is it to encourage or rebuke or shame the hearer? Is it to bring up a new topic? Is it to do something else?

If using the rhetorical question would be natural and give the right meaning in your language, consider doing so. If not, here are other options:

- 1. Add the answer after the question.
- 2. Change the rhetorical question to a statement or exclamation.
- 3. Change the rhetorical question to a statement, and then follow it with a short question.

Examples of Translation Strategies Applied

- 1. Add the answer after the question.
 - Will a virgin forget her jewelry, a bride her veils? Yet my people have forgotten me for days without number! (Jeremiah 2:32 ULB)
 - Will a virgin forget her jewelry, a bride her veils? Of course not! Yet my people have forgotten me for days without number!"
 - Or what man among you is there who, if his son asks him for a loaf of bread, will give him a stone? (Matthew 7:9 ULB)
 - o "Or what man among you is there who, if his son asks him for a loaf of bread, will give him a stone? *None of you would do that!*"
- 2. Change the rhetorical question to a statement or exclamation.
 - What is the kingdom of God like, and what can I compare it to? It is like a mustard seed... (Luke 13:18-19 ULB)
 - o "This is what the kingdom of God is like. It is like a mustard seed..."
 - Is this how you insult God's high priest? (Acts 23:4 ULB)
 - You should not insult God's high priest!"
 - Why did I not die when I came out from the womb? (Job 3:11 ULB)
 - I wish I had died when I came out from the womb!"
 - And why has it happened to me that the mother of my Lord should come to me? (Luke 1:43 ULB)
 - o "How wonderful it is that the mother of my Lord has come to me!"
- 3. Change the rhetorical question to a statement, and then follow it with a short question.
 - Do you not still rule the kingdom of Israel? (1 Kings 21:7 ULB)
 - o "You still rule the kingdom of Israel, don't you?"

translationAcademy Synecdoche

Synecdoche

This answers the question: What does the word synecdoche mean?

In order to understand this topic, it would be good to read:

• Figures of Speech

Synecdoche is when a speaker uses a part of something to refer to the whole or uses the whole to refer to a part.

Description

Synecdoche is when a speaker uses a part of something to refer to the whole or uses the whole to refer to a part.

My soul exalts the Lord. (Luke 1:46 ULB)

Mary was was very happy about what the Lord was doing, so she said "my soul", the part of herself that has emotions, to refer to her whole self.

the Pharisees said to him, "Look, why are they doing something that is not lawful ...?" (Mark 2:24 ULB)

The Pharisees who were standing there did not all say the same words at the same time. Instead, it is more likely that one man representing the group said those words.

Reasons this is a translation issue

- Some readers may understand the words literally.
- Some readers may realize that they are not to understand the words literally, but they may not know what the meaning is.

Example from the Bible

I looked on all the deeds that my hands had accomplished (Ecclesiastes 2:11 ULB)

"My hands" is a synecdoche for the whole person, because clearly the legs and the rest of the body and the mind were also involved.

Translation Strategies

If the synecdoche would be natural and give the right meaning in your language, consider using it. If not, here is another option:

1. State specifically what the synecdoche refers to.

Examples of Translation Strategies Applied

- 1. State specifically what the synecdoche refers to.
 - My soul exalts the Lord. (Luke 1:46 ULB)
 - o "I exalt the Lord."
 - the Pharisees said to him (Mark 2:24 ULB)
 - o "a representative of the Pharisees said to him"
 - I looked on all the deeds that my hands had accomplished (Ecclesiastes 2:11 ULB)
 - \circ "I looked on all the deeds that I had accomplished"

Next we recommend you learn about:

- Metonymy
- Biblical Imagery Common Metonymies

How to Translate Names

This answers the question: How can I translate names that are new to my culture?

In order to understand this topic, it would be good to read:

• Translate Unknowns

The Bible has names of many people, groups of people, and places. Some of these names may sound strange and be hard to say. Sometimes readers may not know what a name refers to, and sometimes they may need to understand what a name means. This page will help you see how you can translate these names and how you can help people understand what they need to know about them.

Description

The Bible has names of many people, groups of people, and places. All names in the Bible have meaning. Most of the time, names in the Bible are used simply to identify the people and places they refer to. But sometimes the meaning of a name is especially important.

It was this *Melchizedek*, king of Salem, priest of God Most High, who met Abraham returning from the slaughter of the kings and blessed him. (Hebrews 7:1ULB)

Here the writer uses the name "Melchizedek" simply to refer to a man who had that name, and the title "king of Salem" simply to tell us something about Melchizedek.

His name "Melchizedek" means "king of righteousness," and also "king of Salem," that is, "king of peace. (Hebrews 7:2 ULB)

Here the writer explains the meanings of Melchizedek's name and title.

Reasons this is a translation issue

- Readers may not know some of the names in the Bible. They may not know whether a name refers to a person or place or something else.
- Readers may need to understand the meaning of a name in order to understand the passage.
- Some names may have different sounds or combinations of sounds that are not used in your language or are unpleasant to say in your language.
- Some people and places in the Bible have two names. Readers may not realize that two names refer to the same person or place.

Examples from the Bible

You went over the *Jordan* and came to *Jericho*. The leaders of Jericho fought against you, along with the *Amorites* (Joshua 24:11 ULB)

Readers might not know that "Jordan" is the name of a river, "Jericho" is the name of a city, and "Amorites" is the name of a group of people.

she said, "Do I really continue to see, even after he has seen me?" Therefore the well was called *Beerlahairoi*; (Genesis 16:13-14 ULB)

Readers may not understand the second sentence if they do not know that "Beerlahairoi" means "Well of the Living One who sees me."

She named him *Moses* and said, "Because I drew him from the water." (Exodus 2:11 ULB)

Readers may not understand why she said this if they do not know that the name Moses sounds like the Hebrew words "pull out."

Saul was in agreement with his death (Acts 8:1 ULB)

It came about in Iconium that *Paul* and Barnabas entered together into the synagogue (Acts 14:1 ULB)

Readers may not know that the names Saul and Paul refer to the same person.

Translation Strategies

- 1. If readers cannot easily understand from the context what kind of a thing a name refers to, you can add a word to clarify it.
- 2. If readers need to understand the meaning of a name in order to understand what is said about it, copy the name and tell about its meaning either in the text or in a footnote.
- 3. Or if readers need to understand the meaning of a name in order to understand what is said about it, and that name is used only once, translate the meaning of the name.
- 4. If a person or place has two different names, use one name all of the time and write a footnote when the source text uses the name that is used less frequently.
- 5. Or use whatever name is given in the source text, and add a footnote that explains who or what the name refers to.

Examples of Translation Strategies Applied

- 1. If readers cannot easily understand from the context what kind of a thing a name refers to, you can add a word to clarify it.
 - You went over the *Jordan* and came to *Jericho*. The leaders of Jericho fought against you, along with the *Amorites* (Joshua 24:11 ULB)
 - o "You went over the *Jordan River* and came to the city of Jericho. The leaders of Jericho fought against you, along with *the tribe of the Amorites*"
 - Shortly after, some Pharisees came and said to him, "Go and leave here because *Herod* wants to kill you." (Luke 13:31 ULB)

- "Shortly after, some Pharisees came and said to him, "Go and leave here because King Herod wants to kill you."
- 2. If readers need to understand the meaning of a name in order to understand what is said about it, copy the name and tell about its meaning either in the text or in a footnote.
 - She named him Moses and said, "Because I drew him from the water." (Exodus 2:11 ULB)
 - o "She named him *Moses*, which sounds like 'drawn out,' and said, "Because I drew him from the water."
- 3. Or if readers need to understand the meaning of a name in order to understand what is said about it, and that name is used only once, translate the meaning of the name.
 - she said, "Do I really continue to see, even after he has seen me?" Therefore the well was called *Beerlahairoi*; (Genesis 16:13-14 ULB)
 - o "she said, "Do I really continue to see, even after he has seen me?" Therefore the well was called *Well of the One who sees me*;"
- 4. If a person or place has two different names, use one name most of the time and the other name only when the text talks about that name. Write a footnote when the source text uses the name that is used less frequently.

For example, Paul is called "Saul" before Acts 13 and "Paul" after Acts 13. You could translate his name as "Paul" all of the time, except in Acts 13:9 where it talks about him having both names.

- a young man named Saul (Acts 7:58 ULB)
 - o "a young man named *Paul*" The footnote would look like:
 - ♦ [1] Most versions say Saul here, but most of the time in the Bible he is called Paul.
- But Saul, who is also called Paul, was filled with the Holy Spirit; (Acts 13:9 ULB)
 - o "But Saul, who is also called Paul, was filled with the Holy Spirit;"
- 5. Or if a person or place has two names, use whatever name is given in the source text, and add a footnote that explains who or what the name refers to.

For example, you could write "Saul" where the source text has "Saul" and "Paul" where the source text has "Paul."

- a young man named Saul (Acts 7:58 ULB)
 - o "a young man named Saul"
- But Saul, who is also called Paul, was filled with the Holy Spirit; (Acts 13:9 ULB) * "But __Saul__, who is also called __Paul__, was filled with the Holy Spirit;" * **It came about in Iconium that __Paul__ and Barnabas entered together into the synagogue** ([[en:bible:notes:act:14:01|Acts 14:1 ULB)

- "It came about in Iconium that $Paul^1$ and Barnabas entered together into the synagogue" (Acts 14:1 ULB) The footnote would look like:
 - \diamond [1] This is the man that was called Saul before Acts 13.

Next we recommend you learn about:

• Copy or Borrow Words

translationAcademy Translate Unknowns

Translate Unknowns

This answers the question: How can I translate ideas that my readers are not familiar with? In order to understand this topic, it would be good to read:

Sentences

How do I translate words like lion, fig tree, mountain, priest, or temple when people in my culture have never seen these things and we do not have a word for them?

Description

Unknowns are things that occur in the source text that are not known to the people of your culture. The translationWords pages and the translationNotes will help you understand what they are. After you understand them, you will need to find ways to refer to those things so that people who read your translation will understand what they are.

We have here only five loaves of bread and two fish (Matthew 14:17 ULB)

Bread is a particular food made by mixing finely crushed grains with oil, and then cooking the mixture so that it is dry. (Grains are the seeds of a kind of grass.) In some cultures people do not have bread or know what it is.

Reason this is a translation issue

- Readers may not know some of the things that are in the Bible because those things are not part of their own culture.
- Readers may have difficulty understanding a text if they do not know some of the things that are mentioned in it.

Translation Principles

- Use words that are already part of your language if possible.
- Keep expressions short if possible.
- Represent God's commands and historical facts accurately.

Examples from the Bible

I will turn Jerusalem into piles of ruins, a hideout for jackals (Jeremiah 9:11 ULB)

Jackals are wild animals like dogs that live in only a few parts of the world. So they are not known in many places.

Beware of false prophets, those who come to you in sheep's clothing, but are truly ravenous *wolves*. (Matthew 7:15 ULB)

If wolves do not live where the translation will be read, the readers may not understand that they are fierce, wild animals like dogs that attack and eat sheep.

Then they tried to give Jesus wine that was mixed with *myrrh*. But he refused to drink it. (Mark 15:23 ULB)

People may not know what myrrh is and that it was used as a medicine.

to him who made *great lights* (Psalm 136:7ULB)

Some languages have terms for things that give light, like the sun and fire, but they have no general term for lights.

your sins ... will be white like *snow* (Isaiah 1:18 ULB)

People in many parts of the world have not seen snow, but they may have seen it in pictures.

Translation Strategies

Here are ways you might translate a term that is not known in your language:

- 1. Use a phrase that describes the part of the meaning that is important in the particular verse being translated.
- 2. Substitute something similar from your language if doing so does not falsely represent a historical fact.
- 3. Copy the word from another language, and add a general word or descriptive phrase to help people understand it.
- 4. Use a word that is more general in meaning.
- 5. Use a word or phrase that is more specific in meaning.

Examples of Translation Strategies Applied

- 1. Use a phrase that describes the part of the meaning that is important in the particular verse being translated.
 - Beware of false prophets, those who come to you in sheep's clothing, but are truly *ravenous wolves*. (Matthew 7:15 ULB)
 - "Beware of false prophets, those who come to you in sheep's clothing, but *are truly hungry and dangerous animals.*"
 - We have here only five *loaves of bread* and two fish (Matthew 14:17 ULB)
 - o "We have here only five loaves of baked grain seeds and two fish"
- 2. Substitute something similar from your language if doing so does not falsely represent a historical fact.

translationAcademy Translate Unknowns

• your sins ... will be white like *snow* (Isaiah 1:18 ULB) This verse is not about snow. It uses snow in a figure of speech to help people understand how white something will be.

- o "your sins ... will be white like *milk*"
- o "your sins ... will be white like the moon"
- 3. Copy the word from another language, and add a general word or descriptive phrase to help people understand it.
 - Then they tried to give Jesus wine that was mixed with *myrrh*. But he refused to drink it. (Mark 15:23 ULB) People may understand better what myrrh is if it is used with the general word "medicine."
 - "Then they tried to give Jesus wine that was mixed with *a medicine called myrrh*. But he refused to drink it."
 - We have here only five loaves of *bread* and two fish (Matthew 14:17 ULB) People may understand better what bread is if it is used with a phrase that tells what it is made of (seeds) and how it is prepared (crushed and baked).
 - o "We have here only five loaves of baked crushed seed bread and two fish"
- 4. Use a word that is more general in meaning.
 - I will turn Jerusalem into piles of ruins, a hideout for jackals (Jeremiah 9:11 ULB)
 - o "I will turn Jerusalem into piles of ruins, a hideout for wild dogs"
 - We have here only five loaves of bread and two fish (Matthew 14:17 ULB)
 - o "We have here only five loaves of baked food and two fish"
- 5. Use a word or phrase that is more specific in meaning.
 - to him who made great lights (Psalm 136:7 ULB)
 - o "to him who made the sun and the moon"

Next we recommend you learn about:

- Copy or Borrow Words
- How to Translate Names